# The Physics potential of the CEPC

Prepared for the US Snowmass Community Planning Exercise

(Snowmass 2021)

CEPC Physics Study Group

### CONTRIBUTORS

- Huajie Cheng, Department of Applied Physics, Naval University of Engineering, Jiefang Blvd 717, Qiaokou District, Wuhan 430033, China
- Wen Han Chiu, Department of Physics, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL 60637.
   USA
- Yaquan Fang, Institute of High Energy Physics, University of Chinese Academy of Science, Beijing, 100049, China
- Yu Gao, Key Laboratory of Particle Astrophysics, Institute of High Energy Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, 100049, China
- Jiayin Gu, Department of Physics, Center for Field Theory and Particle Physics, Key Laboratory of Nuclear Physics and Ion-beam Application (MOE), Fudan University, Shanghai 200438, China
- Gang Li, Institute of High Energy Physics, University of Chinese Academy of Science, Beijing, 100049, China
- Lingfeng Li, Department of Physics, Brown University, Providence, RI 02912, USA
- Tianjun Li, CAS Key Laboratory of Theoretical Physics, Institute of Theoretical Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100190, China

- Zhijun Liang, Institute of High Energy Physics, University of Chinese Academy of Science, Beijing, 100049, China
- Bo Liu, Institute of High Energy Physics, University of Chinese Academy of Science, Beijing, 100049, China
- Jia Liu, School of Physics and State Key Laboratory of Nuclear Physics and Technology, Peking University, Beijing 100871, China
- Zhen Liu, School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55455, USA
- Manqi Ruan, Institute of High Energy Physics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, 100049, China
- Jing Shu, School of Physics and State Key Laboratory of Nuclear Physics and Technology, Peking University, Beijing 100871, China
- Kechen Wang, Department of Physics, School of Science, Wuhan University of Technology, 430070 Wuhan, Hubei, China
- Lian-Tao Wang, Department of Physics, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL 60637.
   USA
- Ke-Pan Xie, Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Nebraska, Lincoln, NE 68588, USA
- Shuo Yang, Department of Physics, Liaoning Normal University, Dalian 116029, China
- Jiarong Yuan, School of Physical Sciences, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, No. 19A Yuquan Road, Beijing 100049, China
- Kaili Zhang, Institute of High Energy Physics, University of Chinese Academy of Science, Beijing, 100049, China
- Mengchao Zhang, Department of Physics and Siyuan Laboratory, Jinan University, Guangzhou 510632, P.R. China
- Yang Zhang, School of Physics, Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou 450000, China

• Xuai Zhuang, Institute of High Energy Physics, University of Chinese Academy of Science, Beijing, 100049, China

# ABSTRACT

The Circular Electron Positron Collider (CEPC) is a large-scale collider facility that can serve as a factory of the Higgs, Z, and W bosons and is upgradable to run at the  $t\bar{t}$  threshold. This document describes the latest CEPC nominal operation scenario and particle yields and updates the corresponding physics potential. A new detector concept is also briefly described. This submission is for consideration by the Snowmass process.

# CONTENTS

	Contributors	1
	Abstract	4
I.	Executive Summary	6
II.	Introduction	8
III.	Higgs, EW and top physics	11
	A. Measurements of the SM Higgs processes	12
	B. Higgs coupling determination	13
	C. CP violation in the Higgs couplings	18
	D. $W, Z$ electroweak precision measurements at the CEPC	18
	E. Measurement of the $e^+e^- \to WW$ process	21
	F. SMEFT global fit of Higgs and electroweak processes	21
IV.	Flavor Physics	23
	A. Precise Measurements of Flavor Physics Parameters	24
	B. (Semi)leptonic and Rare Decays	25
	C. Low multiplicity and $\tau$ Physics	26
V.	Beyond the Standard Model Physics	28
	A. Higgs Exotic Decays	28
	B. Supersymmetry	30
	1. Light electroweakino and slepton searches	31

2. SUSY global fits	33
C. Dark Matter and Dark Sector	35
1. Lepton portal Dark Matter	35
2. Asymmetric Dark Matter	36
3. Dark sector from exotic Z decay	37
D. Long-lived Particle Searches	40
1. Results with Near Detectors	40
2. Results with FADEPC	41
E. A couple more examples of exotics	44
1. Heavy neutrinos	45
2. Axion-like particles	47
VI. Detector requirements and R&D activities	48
VII. Message to the Snowmass	52
References	52

## I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Higgs boson, discovered in 2012 by the ATLAS and CMS Collaborations at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC), plays a central role in the Standard Model. Higgs precision measurements will advance our understanding of many critical questions, including the origin of the electroweak scale, the nature of the electroweak phase transition, and the origin of the matter anti-matter asymmetry in the universe. The Higgs boson is also a window for exploring new physics, such as dark matter and its associated dark sector, heavy sterile neutrino, and many others. Compared to the LHC, an electron-positron Higgs factory can provide crucial and highly complementary information, significantly enhance our knowledge of this mysterious particle, and help us make progress in answering the critical questions mentioned above. Therefore, it is widely regarded as the highest priority among various proposed future collider facilities.

The Circular Electron Positron Collider (CEPC) [1, 2], proposed by the Chinese high energy physics community in 2012, is designed to run primarily at a center-of-mass energy of 240 GeV as a Higgs factory. In addition, it will also be operated on the Z-pole as a Z factory, perform a precise WW threshold scan, and be upgraded to a center-of-mass energy of 360 GeV, close to the  $t\bar{t}$  threshold. The CEPC study group published its Conceptual Design Report (CDR) [3] in Nov. 2018. Since then, many critical technologies R&D have been carried out. Multiple prototypes have been produced and tested, especially those components on the critical accelerator sub-systems. The performances have achieved or surpassed the designed goal. In addition, significant progress has been made on the accelerator design, leading to significantly enhanced instantaneous luminosities compared to those presented in the CDR. Based on the progress, the CEPC study group proposes a set of new beam parameters and a new nominal operation scenario.

In this new nominal operation scenario, the CEPC is expected to deliver 4 million Higgs bosons, nearly 4 trillion Z bosons, over 400 million W-boson pairs (of which  $\sim$ 100 million are near the WW threshold), and potentially one million top quarks with the high-energy upgrade. Many Higgs boson couplings can be measured with precision about one order of magnitude better than those achievable at the High Luminosity LHC (HL-LHC). In addition, the CEPC is projected to improve the current precision of many of the electroweak observables by about one order of magnitude or more, complementary to the Higgs boson coupling measurements. The CEPC also offers excellent opportunities for searching for rare decays of the Higgs, W, and Z bosons and many other new physics signals. The large quantities of bottom quarks, charm quarks, and tau leptons produced from the decays of the Z bosons are ideal for a suite of important flavor physics measurements. While the results reported here are based on the updated running scenario, we note that there is room for further improvement as a possible expansion to 4 IPs is also under investigation.

This report briefly introduces the new nominal operation scenario and summarizes many recent physics potential studies. This submission for consideration by the Snowmass is part of our dedicated effort to seek international collaboration and support. Given the importance of the precision Higgs boson measurements and the search for new physics beyond the Standard Model, the CEPC team is actively promoting the CEPC project and is motivated to collaborate on other proposals for electron-positron collider based Higgs factories.

### **II. INTRODUCTION**

The Higgs field is at the heart of many mysteries of the Standard Model (SM), such as the origin of the electroweak scale, the nature of the electroweak phase transition, the flavor structure and so on. Meanwhile, it could be deeply connected with many fundamental phenomena beyond the Standard Model, such as the origin of matter and anti-matter asymmetry, the nature of dark matter and dark energy, and the fundamental forces that drove inflation. The discovery of the Higgs boson, an excited state of the Higgs field, completes the SM particle spectrum and offers an excellent probe for those fundamental mysteries and phenomena. A Higgs factory that can measure the properties of the Higgs boson to an unprecedented precision is vital for this exploration.

The LHC is a powerful Higgs factory. Ultimately, the high luminosity run of the LHC (HL-LHC) will produce 100 million Higgs bosons in the coming decades. However, due to the large backgrounds and the large theoretical/systematical uncertainties, the ultimate accuracies of the Higgs property measurements at the HL-LHC are typically limited to a few percent.

Compared to the LHC, the electron-positron colliders have significant advantages for the Higgs property measurements. They are free of the QCD background. The ratio of the Higgs signal versus the SM background is 7-8 orders of magnitude higher than the HL-LHC. The electron-positron colliders have precisely known and adjustable initial states and can determine the absolute values of the Higgs boson width and couplings. Multiple electron-positron Higgs factories have been proposed, including the International Linear Collider (ILC) [4], the Compact Linear Collider (CLIC) [5], the Future Circular Collider (FCC) [6], and the Circular Electron Positron Collider (CEPC) [1, 2]. Meanwhile, many new possibilities are also under consideration, such as a 125 GeV Muon collider [7], C3 [8], ReliC [9] and CERC [10].

The CEPC is proposed by the High Energy Physics community right after the Higgs discovery and is expected to be hosted in China. The CEPC working group kicked off in September 2013. In 2015, the CEPC study achieved its first milestone, the pre-CDR [1, 2], in which the study group concluded there is no shower-stopper for this facility. Followed by intensive R&D activities and physics study, the CEPC study group delivered the CEPC Conceptual Design Report (CDR) [3] in Nov. 2018.

The CEPC has the main ring with a total circumference of 100 km. It is designed to operate at around  $E_{\rm CM} = 91.2$  GeV as a Z factory, close to W pair production threshold  $E_{\rm CM} \simeq 160$  GeV, at  $E_{\rm CM} = 240$  GeV as a Higgs factory. The center of mass energy of CEPC can be upgraded to 360 GeV, enabling the  $t\bar{t}$  pair production. With an eye on future upgrades, the tunnel is designed to be wide enough to accommodate both the CEPC and SPPC [11].

In the CDR, the CEPC is envisioned to operate with two detectors. It has a ten-year nominal operation plan which will deliver total combined integrated luminosities of 16, 2.6, and 5.6  $ab^{-1}$  for the Z, the W, and the Higgs operation, respectively. It will produce close to one trillion Z bosons, 100 million W bosons, and over one million Higgs bosons. Billions of bottom quarks, charm quarks, and tau-leptons will be produced in the Z boson decays, making it a B-factory and a tau-charm factory.



FIG. 1. The updated run plan of the CEPC, with the baseline and upgrade shown in solid and dashed blue curves, respectively. The run plans for several other proposals of the  $e^+e^-$  colliders are also shown for comparison. See [12] for details.

After the delivery of the CEPC CDR, the CEPC study group continued its physics study and technology R&D. The CEPC accelerator study entered the Technical Design Report (TDR) phase, endorsed by CEPC International Advisory Committee (IAC). Key technologies are developed and validated, especially at the core accelerator sub-systems, including high-quality Superconducting Radio-Frequency (SRF) system, high precision magnets for the booster and collider rings, vacuum system, Machine-Detector Interface (MDI), and so on. Multiple prototypes have been produced and tested, validating the design by achieving and surpassing the required performances. All these progress lead to an update of the nominal run plan for the CEPC, shown in Figure 1. Currently, the CEPC Study group is working for getting project approval around 2027.

The CEPC plans to take a staging approach to realize its construction and the targeted performance. The baseline CEPC will be operating at the center-of-mass energies ranging from the Z mass to 240 GeV, with maximal synchrotron radiation power per beam limited to 30 MW. Increasing the power supply and the heat load capability of the cooling system, the maximal synchrotron radiation power per beam can be increased from 30 MW to 50 MW, resulting in a linear increase of the instantaneous luminosity. The center-of-mass energy can be raised to 360 GeV by increasing the RF cavities.

Operation mode	Z factory	WW threshold H	Higgs factory	$t\bar{t}$
$\sqrt{s} \; ({ m GeV})$	91.2	160	240	360
Run time (year)	2	1	10	5
Instantaneous luminosity	191.7	26.6	8.3	0.83
$(10^{34} cm^{-2} s^{-1}, \text{ per IP})$	101.1	20.0	0.0	0.00
Integrated luminosity	100	6	20	1
$(ab^{-1}, 2 \text{ IPs})$	100	0	20	1
Event yields	$3\times 10^{12}$	$1 \times 10^8$	$4 \times 10^6$	$5  imes 10^5$

]	ГАВІ	LE I.	Nominal	CEPC	operation	scheme,	and	the	physics	yield,	of four	different	modes.	See
[	12] fo	or de	tails.											

A new nominal data-taking scenario is also developed from the upgraded performance of the CEPC accelerator, emphasizing the scientific program as a Higgs and Z factory, summarized in Table I. Detailed description of the updated running scenarios can be found in another contribution to the Snowmass from the CEPC study group [12]. It aims at ten years of data taking at  $E_{\rm CM} = 240$  GeV, with two interaction points (IPs), accumulating an integrated luminosity of 20  $ab^{-1}$ , and producing 4 million Higgs bosons. It also plans to operate for at least two years near the Z pole, which corresponds to an integrated luminosity of 100  $ab^{-1}$ , and 3 trillion  $e^+e^- \rightarrow Z \rightarrow q\bar{q}$  events. About one year will be devoted to the WW threshold scan, providing MeV level accuracies on the W boson mass and width. After the high energy upgrade, the CEPC will be operated for at least five years at a 360 GeV center-of-mass energy with a 1  $ab^{-1}$  integrated luminosity. About 500 thousand  $t\bar{t}$  events and 150 thousand inclusive Higgs events will be produced. A possible expansion to 4 IPs is also under investigation. Hence, the statistics can potentially be further improved.

The CEPC Physics study groups have continued to explore the physics potential, focusing on a broad range of topics, including Higgs precision measurements, precise EW measurements, Flavor Physics, QCD measurements, and direct new physics searches. In addition, the physics studies identified a handful of critical detector requirements, quantified its impact on different physics benchmarks, and set clear performance goals for its detector system. These requirements include the separation of final state particles, the precise reconstruction of energy/momentum of different kinds of final state particles, the identification of physics objects in high-multiplicity events, the monitoring, and calibration of beam energy and instant luminosity, and so on. The CEPC detector group initiated a series of detector technology R&D programs to satisfy the physics requirements better and leverage the latest detector development technology.

We submit this document as an input to the Snowmass process based on the updated operating scenario of the CEPC. Here, we update the CEPC physics reaches based on recent new studies and describes briefly the detector R&D activities. The European Strategy for Particle Physics Update in 2020 [13] concluded that an electron-positron Higgs factory is the highest-priority next collider. We firmly believe that such a facility is an indispensable step for high-energy physics explorations in the future.

# III. HIGGS, EW AND TOP PHYSICS

Higgs, electroweak, and top quark physics make up the primary physics output of the CEPC program. This section reviews the corresponding physics potential with up-to-date simulation results according to the upgraded CEPC run plan. The top quark physics, includ-

ing top quark mass and width measurements and top quark coupling measurements, enabled by the  $t\bar{t}$  run, are still under development. We will report the corresponding projections in future works.

# A. Measurements of the SM Higgs processes

In addition to the CEPC Higgs white paper [14] and CDR [3], several analyses on the measurements of the Higgs cross-section [15] as well as individual Higgs decaying channels have been documented in [16] and [17]. After the CDR, various updates have been implemented in the analysis of the individual channels, and for some of them, substantial improvements on the measurement precision have been achieved. Multivariate analyses (MVA) have been applied on  $H \to ZZ$  [18] and  $H \to \gamma\gamma$ , leading to 5-10% improvements on the precision with respect to the CDR results. Dedicated MVA can also enhance the sensitivity to the Higgs invisible decay measurement  $(H \to inv)$  [19]. For the analyses of the  $H \to bb/cc/gg$ channels, the Color Singlet Identification (CSI) method is introduced for the  $(Z \to q\bar{q}) H$ channel, and flavor taggings are introduced for both  $(Z \to \nu \bar{\nu})H$  and  $(Z \to q\bar{q})H$  channels, which were previously absent in the CDR analyses. This results in an improvement of 2%/52%/10% (for bb/cc/gg, respectively) in the  $\nu\bar{\nu}H$  channel and 35%/107%/169% in the  $q\bar{q}H$  channel for the precision of the signal strength measurement [20]. Furthermore, a global analysis based on Machine Learning (ML) is developed for the Higgs measurement which can potentially increase the corresponding precision by a factor of 2 with respect to the results reported in the CDR [21].

At present, the relevant data sets for Higgs measurements are those collected at the 240 GeV run with a luminosity of 20  $ab^{-1}$ , and the 360 GeV run with 1  $ab^{-1}$ , as shown in Table I. The cross-section of the ZH production for the 360 GeV run is 36% lower than that of the 240 GeV run, while the cross-sections of the WW and ZZ fusion Higgs production processes are a factor of 3.8 and 4.6 higher, respectively. These channels provide important inputs for the Higgs width determination.

An important case is the correlation between the two different production modes,  $ZH \rightarrow bb$  and  $\nu\nu H \rightarrow bb$  (from WW fusion). It is difficult to separate the latter from  $ZH \rightarrow \nu\nu bb$  at 240 GeV due to their similar kinematics. As a result, the two modes have a large correlation of -46% in the 240 GeV run. This is reduced to -16% in the 360 GeV run due to a better

separation of the recoiling mass of the two *b* quarks. In addition, the correlations of the  $H \rightarrow bb/cc/gg$  channels for the 240 GeV run are also studied in [20] and are estimated to be -15%, -17% and -26% for bb/cc, bb/gg and cc/gg, respectively.

The projections for the measurements of the 360 GeV run are obtained by rescaling from the ones of the 240 GeV run according to the cross sections of signal and backgrounds, while implementing the new developments described above and using the same statistical method as the CDR study. The  $\nu\nu H \rightarrow bb$  channel is fully simulated as a cross check. The projections of the measurement precision for various Higgs production and decay channels at the CEPC 240 GeV and 360 GeV runs are summarized in Table II.

In comparison with the CDR results, the inclusive Higgs cross-section measurement has been improved from 0.5% to 0.26%, the measurements of the exclusive channels (in terms of  $\sigma \times BR$ ) are also significantly improved, and the precision reach of the Higgs width determination is improved from 2.8% to 1.65%,[22] for the 240 GeV run. This is mainly due to the higher luminosity (20ab<sup>-1</sup> vs. 5.6ab<sup>-1</sup>) for the updated run plan. Thanks to the 360 GeV run, the combined precision of the Higgs width determination with the two runs can reach a remarkable 1.10%.

#### B. Higgs coupling determination

The determination of the Higgs couplings is one of the major goal of the CEPC physics program. In order to compare with the SM predictions, a systematic parameterization of BSM contributions to the Higgs couplings is needed. The two common frameworks are the so-called  $\kappa$  framework and the effective-field-theory (EFT) approach, which are both considered in the CEPC study.

The  $\kappa$  framework defines  $\kappa$ s as the rescaling factors of the Higgs couplings with respect to their SM values. The precision projection on  $\kappa$  directly reflects the Higgs precision program in a simplified manner. These  $\kappa$ s can be related to the Wilson coefficients in the Higgs EFT (HEFT) or the Standard Model EFT, often encapsulating several operators' combined direction. The EFT framework becomes more suitable when describing the physics across a broad range of energy scales or between different sectors (such as the Higgs and the EW ones).

For the  $\kappa$  framework, we make projections in two schemes that have already been adopted



FIG. 2. The projections of the precision of the Higgs coupling measurement at the CEPC in different kappa fit frameworks, shown with red bars. The projections with CEPC 240 GeV run only are shown in dashed opaque bars, and the improved result with CEPC 360 GeV run are shown in solid bars. Note that with the upgrade CEPC run plans, including the HL-LHC in the combination does not lead to any visible changes in the results in the chosen set of free parameters. Hence, we do not consider them separately here anymore. The upper panel has the total width as a derived quantity instead of a free parameter (as in the lower panel), enabling a direct comparison with the HL-LHC sensitivities shown in gray bars. HL-LHC has a large flat direction with total width as a free parameter, and hence its results are not shown in the lower panel.

	$240 \mathrm{GeV},  20 \mathrm{ab}^{-1}$		$360\mathrm{GeV},1\epsilon$		$ab^{-1}$
	ZH	$\mathbf{v}\mathbf{v}\mathbf{H}$	$\mathbf{ZH}$	$\mathbf{v}\mathbf{v}\mathbf{H}$	eeH
inclusive	0.26%		1.40%	$\setminus$	\
H→bb	0.14%	1.59%	0.90%	1.10%	4.30%
$H \rightarrow cc$	2.02%		8.80%	16%	20%
H→gg	0.81%		3.40%	4.50%	12%
$H \rightarrow WW$	0.53%		2.80%	4.40%	6.50%
$H{\rightarrow}ZZ$	4.17%		20%	21%	
$H \to \tau \tau$	0.42%		2.10%	4.20%	7.50%
$H \to \gamma \gamma$	3.02%		11%	16%	
$H \to \mu \mu$	6.36%		41%	57%	
$H \to Z\gamma$	8.50%		35%		
$\boxed{\mathrm{Br}_{upper}(H \to inv.)}$	0.07%				
$\Gamma_H$	1.65%		1.10%		

TABLE II. The projected precision for the measurements of the inclusive Higgs cross section, cross section times branching ratio and the Higgs total width ( $\Gamma_H$ ) for the 240 GeV and 360 GeV runs at the CEPC. All results are in terms of the one-sigma precision except for the invisible decay branching ratio  $\text{Br}_{upper}(H \rightarrow inv.)$ , which shows the 95% confidence-level upper bound. The precision of the Higgs total width is obtained from a  $\kappa$ -fit of all the Higgs measurements.

in the CEPC pre-CDR [23] and CDR [3, 24]. These two schemes are also equivalent to the so-called "kappa0" and "kappa3" schemes in the European Strategy Updates [25]. In the "kappa0" scheme, the Higgs total width is not a free parameter, and is assumed to be the sum of all the partial widths of the SM Higgs decay channels. Since it is difficult to measure the Higgs width precisely at the LHC, using this scheme allows for precise extraction of the couplings at the LHC and enables comparisons between the HL-LHC performances and the CEPC. In the "kappa3" framework, the Higgs width is a free parameter, containing (inclusively) various exotic decay modes that are not directly searched. The lepton collider Higgs factories have unique capability to determine the Higgs width through inclusive

measurements [3, 23-29].[30]

We show the projected Higgs precision in these two kappa fit frameworks in Figure 2. The CEPC projections with the upgraded run plan are shown in red bars, with opaque ones with dashed boundary representing 240 GeV run with 20  $ab^{-1}$  results alone. The full projections, in combination with a 360 GeV run with an integrated luminosity of 1  $ab^{-1}$ , are shown with solid red bars.

The upper panel shows the constrained fit result where Higgs width is not a free parameter. The gray bars represent the projections for the HL-LHC, with two scenarios of uncertainty assumption [31]. In comparison with the HL-LHC, the CEPC improves most coupling precisions by more than a factor of 5. Notably, the Higgs to ZZ coupling can be improved by more than a factor of 30, enabling us to dive deep into new physics which can modify Higgs couplings.

We show the kappa fit result with the Higgs width as a free parameter in the lower panel. Historically, this scheme is often dubbed the "model-independent" fit. The Higgs width could contain additional contributions from new decay modes which are hard to search for or tag. HL-LHC has a sizeable flat direction with total width as a free parameter. Consequently, the HL-LHC results are not shown in the lower panel. CEPC is able to determine the Higgs boson total width at the level of 1.1%. CEPC can also set an upper limit on the branching ratio of BSM invisible decay at 0.07% at 95% CL from the exclusive measurement. Note that with the upgraded CEPC run plans, including the HL-LHC in the combination does not lead to any visible changes in the results in the projections for the chosen set of free parameters. Hence, we do not consider them separately here anymore.

In the EFT framework, the new particles are assumed to be heavy and can be integrated out, and the new physics effects can be mapped to a series of higher dimensional operators. We work in the Standard Model Effective Field Theory (SMEFT) in which the electroweak symmetry breaking is linearly realized. A more detailed SMEFT analysis of the Higgs and electroweak measurements is presented later in section IIIF. Here we project the SMEFT results onto the effective Higgs couplings, which are defined such that they are proportional to the square root of the corresponding Higgs decay [32][33]. The results are presented in Figure 3. The reaches on the anomalous triple gauge couplings (aTGCs) from the same fit are also shown. For comparison, we also show the results for the HL-LHC S2 scenario with the measurement inputs from [31], following the treatment in [34].



FIG. 3. Precision reach on the effective Higgs couplings and aTGCs at the HL-LHC (S2 scenario) and the CEPC, obtained from a global fit of the Higgs and electroweak measurements in the SMEFT framework. For the CEPC, the light-shaded columns show the results with runs up to 240 GeV, while the solid columns also include the run at 360 GeV.

In Figure 3, we again observe a precision reach of  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-2} - 10^{-3})$  for most of the Higgs couplings at the CEPC, clearly demonstrating its great potential in precision Higgs physics. There are a few important differences to the  $\kappa$ -framework results that should be noted. First, the reach on the hWW coupling  $(\delta g_H^{WW})$  is significantly better in the EFT framework than in the  $\kappa$  one. The former is similar to the reach on  $\delta g_H^{ZZ}$  despite the fact that the hZproduction channel is much better measured than the WW-fusion one. This is mainly due to the fact that a large deviation between  $\delta g_H^{WW}$  and  $\delta g_H^{ZZ}$  violates the custodial symmetry, and is therefore tightly constrained by the electroweak measurements at the CEPC. Similarly, many other operators contribute to both Higgs and electroweak processes. Thanks to the outstanding electroweak precision program at the CEPC, these operators are strongly constrained and have very small impacts on the extraction of Higgs couplings [34]. The measurement of the  $h \rightarrow Z\gamma$  channel also plays a crucial role in the EFT framework as it provides important constraints on the operators (such as  $|H|^2 W_{\mu\nu} W^{\mu\nu}$  and  $|H|^2 B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}$ ) that also contribute to the  $h\gamma\gamma$ , hWW and hZZ couplings. This measurement also constrains the contribution of the  $hZ\gamma$  coupling to the hZ production via the s-channel photon to a negligible level, which would otherwise have an significant impact on the extraction of the hZZ coupling.

#### C. CP violation in the Higgs couplings

The Higgs boson is predicted to be a scalar particle  $(J^P = 0^{++})$  under the SM of particle physics. Any observation of charge-parity violation (CPV) in the Higgs couplings would be a clear sign of new physics. Such new physics could potentially account for (at least some of) the observed baryon asymmetry of the universe. At the HL-LHC [31], the *CP*-odd *HVV* couplings are can be probed by the measurement of Higgs decay, and the expected bound on the *CP*-odd parameters  $\tilde{c}_{Z\gamma}$  and  $\tilde{c}_{ZZ}$  is estimated to be  $\pm 0.22$  and  $\pm 0.33$ , respectively, at the 68% confidence level.

CEPC, with good reconstructions of the Higgs production events and much smaller QCD background, provides a unique opportunity to probe the CP-odd HVV couplings. Such an analysis was perform in [35] using the  $e^+e^- \rightarrow ZH \rightarrow \mu^+\mu^-H(\rightarrow b\bar{b}/c\bar{c}/gg)$  process with the luminosity presented in the CDR. A likelihood fit to the binned analysis of the azimuthal angle  $\phi$  between the production and the Z-decay planes was carried out, and the 68%CL bound on  $\tilde{c}_{Z\gamma}$  and  $\tilde{c}_{ZZ}$  is around  $\pm 0.37$  and  $\pm 0.10$ , respectively. This is further improved to  $\pm 0.36$  and  $\pm 0.08$  with the use of optimal observables [36]. The reach on  $\tilde{c}_{ZZ}$  at CEPC is significantly better than the HL-LHC one, while for  $\tilde{c}_{Z\gamma}$  the CEPC bound is weaker due to its suppressed contribution to the hZ production channel. With the luminosity updated from 5.6 ab<sup>-1</sup> to 20 ab<sup>-1</sup>, and more channels included, we expect the reach on the CP-odd parameters to be improved by at least a factor of two.

# **D.** W, Z electroweak precision measurements at the CEPC

The CEPC offers the possibility of dedicated runs at the Z pole and the WW threshold. The expected integrated luminosity for the CEPC Z pole run is 100 ab<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to  $3 \times 10^{12}$  Z bosons. It will also produce over 400 million W boson pairs (of which 100 million are near the WW threshold with 6 ab<sup>-1</sup>). With large integrated luminosity, the CEPC will reach a new level of precision for measurements of the properties of the W and Z bosons. Precise measurements of the W and Z boson masses, widths, and couplings are critical to test the consistency of the SM. In addition, many BSM models predict new couplings of the W and Z bosons to other elementary particles. Precise electroweak measurements performed at the CEPC could discover deviations from the SM predictions and reveal the

Observable	current precision	CEPC precision (Stat. Unc.)	CEPC runs	main systematic	
$\Delta m_Z$	$2.1 { m MeV} [37-41]$	$0.1 { m MeV} (0.005 { m MeV})$	Z threshold	$E_{beam}$	
$\Delta\Gamma_Z$	2.3  MeV [37-41]	$0.025 { m MeV} (0.005 { m MeV})$	Z threshold	$E_{beam}$	
$\Delta m_W$	$9 { m MeV} [42-46]$	$0.5 { m MeV} (0.35 { m MeV})$	WW threshold	$E_{beam}$	
$\Delta\Gamma_W$	49 MeV [46–49]	$2.0 { m MeV} (1.8 { m MeV})$	WW threshold	$E_{beam}$	
$\Delta m_t$	$0.76  {\rm GeV}  [50]$	$\mathcal{O}(10) \ \mathrm{MeV}^{\mathbf{a}}$	$t\bar{t}$ threshold		
$\Delta A_e$	$4.9 \times 10^{-3}$ [37, 51–55]	$1.5 \times 10^{-5} \ (1.5 \times 10^{-5})$	$Z$ pole $(Z \to \tau \tau)$	Stat. Unc.	
$\Delta A_{\mu}$	$0.015 \ [37, 53]$	$3.5 \times 10^{-5} \; (3.0 \times 10^{-5})$	$Z$ pole $(Z \to \mu \mu)$	point-to-point Unc.	
$\Delta A_{\tau}$	$4.3 \times 10^{-3}$ [37, 51–55]	$7.0 \times 10^{-5} \ (1.2 \times 10^{-5})$	$Z$ pole $(Z \to \tau \tau)$	tau decay model	
$\Delta A_b$	$0.02 \ [37, 56]$	$20 \times 10^{-5} \ (3 \times 10^{-5})$	Z pole	QCD effects	
$\Delta A_c$	$0.027 \ [37, 56]$	$30 \times 10^{-5} \ (6 \times 10^{-5})$	Z pole	QCD effects	
$\Delta \sigma_{had}$	37 pb [37–41]	2  pb (0.05  pb)	Z pole	lumiosity	
$\delta R_b^0$	$0.003 \ [37, 57-61]$	$0.0002~(5 \times 10^{-6})$	Z pole	gluon splitting	
$\delta R_c^0$	$0.017 \ [37, 57, 62-65]$	$0.001~(2 \times 10^{-5})$	Z pole	gluon splitting	
$\delta R_e^0$	$0.0012 \ [37-41]$	$2 \times 10^{-4} \; (3 \times 10^{-6})$	Z pole	$E_{beam}$ and t channel	
$\delta R^0_\mu$	$0.002 \ [37-41]$	$1\times 10^{-4}~(3\times 10^{-6})$	Z pole	$E_{beam}$	
$\delta R_{ au}^0$	$0.017 \ [37-41]$	$1 \times 10^{-4} \; (3 \times 10^{-6})$	Z pole	$E_{beam}$	
$\delta N_{\nu}$	0.0025 [37, 66]	$2 \times 10^{-4} (3 \times 10^{-5})$	$ZH$ run $(\nu\nu\gamma)$	Calo energy scale	

existence of new particles that are beyond the reach of current experiments.

<sup>a</sup> Simulation studies are still on-going to obtain accurate projections of the precision of top quark mass and coupling measurements at the CEPC.

TABLE III. The expected precision for a selected set of EW precision measurements at the CEPC and the comparison with the precision from the previous measurements [37–49, 51–66]. The CEPC accelerator running mode and total integrated luminosity expected for each measurement are also listed. Relative uncertainties are quoted for  $\delta R_b^0$ ,  $\delta R_c^0$ ,  $\delta R_e^0$ ,  $\delta R_\mu^0$ ,  $\delta R_\tau^0$  and  $\delta N_\nu$  measurements, while absolute uncertainties are quoted for other measurements.

Significant improvements are expected from the CEPC measurements for some of these variables. Table III lists the expected precision from CEPC compared to achieved precisions from the previous measurements [37–49, 51–66]. These runs allow high precision electroweak

measurements of the Z boson decay partial widths, *i.e.* the parameters  $R_b = \Gamma_{Z \to b\bar{b}}/\Gamma_{had}$ ,  $R_c = \Gamma_{Z \to c\bar{c}}/\Gamma_{had}$  and  $R_\ell = \Gamma_{had}/\Gamma_{Z \to \ell\bar{\ell}}$  where  $l = e, \mu, \tau$ . It would also perform high precision measurements of the forward-backward charge asymmetry  $(A_{FB}^f)$ , the effective weak mixing angle  $(\sin^2 \theta_W^{\text{eff}})$ , number of light neutrino species  $(N_\nu)$ , and the mass of the Z boson  $(m_Z)$ . Even through the polarized beam is not the default option in the CEPC physics program, the asymmetry observables  $A_e$  and  $A_\tau$  can still be measured by probing the tau polarization asymmetry in the tau hadronic decay mode using  $Z \to \tau\tau$  events at the Z pole runs with unpolarized beams. Projections for the other  $A_f$  variables are dervied from the measurements of  $A_e$  and  $A_{FB}^f$  using the relation  $A_{FB}^f = \frac{3}{4}A_eA_f$ . The threshold scan runs are also crucial for the calibrations of leptons and jets. It is also possible to perform some measurements with the Z boson without these dedicated low-energy runs near or at the Z pole. For example, the direct measurement of the number of light neutrino species can be performed in ZH runs intended for Higgs boson measurements.

 $m_Z$  can be measured at CEPC Z pole runs and Z threshold scans runs. The dominant systematic is expected to come from beam energy measurements. By using resonant depolarization method, the beam energy is expected to be calibrated to a precision of 0.1 MeV [67–69], which is a factor of 20 improvement compared to LEP measurements [37–41].

The W boson mass  $(m_W)$  can be measured with WW threshold runs at CEPC with unprecedented experimental precision [70]. Recent result from CDF collaboration showed that the measured  $m_W$  was significantly higher than the Standard Model predicts, with a discrepancy of 7  $\sigma$  standard deviations [42]. CEPC will offer an opportunity to improve the experimental systematic by one order of magnitude, revealing insight on the potential new physics behind the deviations in the  $m_W$  measurement. The systematic uncertainty in beam energy measurement is expected to be one of the dominated experimental uncertainties. A new method for high energy beam energy measurement with microwave-beam Compton back-scattering was proposed to calibrate the beam energy at WW threshold runs [71, 72].

The weak mixing angle is one of the most important parameter for the Standard Model electroweak sector. The asymmetry between the right-handed and left-handed lepton couplings to the Z boson  $(A_{\ell})$  is a powerful experimental observable to measure the weak mixing angle. As mentioned above,  $A_e$  and  $A_{\tau}$  can be measured precisely with the final-state tau polarizations at the CEPC. The forward-backward asymmetry  $(A_{FB}^f)$  measurement at the Z pole can provides a similarly accurate determination of the weak mixing angle.

# **E.** Measurement of the $e^+e^- \rightarrow WW$ process

The measurement of the  $e^+e^- \rightarrow WW$  process provides important constraints on various new physics contributions and is a crucial input for the global SMEFT analysis. Conventionally, the results are presented in terms of the bounds on the three CP-even anomalous triple gauge couplings (aTGCs). Additional modifications are allowed in the global SMEFT framework. Focusing on dimension-6 CP-even tree-level effects, the new physics contributions in SMEFT can be written in terms of the following 7 parameters [73],

$$\delta g_{1,Z}, \ \delta \kappa_{\gamma}, \ \lambda_{Z}, \ \delta g^{ee}_{Z,L}, \ \delta g^{ee}_{Z,R}, \ \delta g^{e\nu}_{W}, \ \delta_{m_{W}},$$

where  $\delta g_{1,Z}$ ,  $\kappa_{\gamma}$  and  $\lambda_Z$  are the three aTGCs,  $g_{Z,L}^{ee}$ ,  $\delta g_{Z,R}^{ee}$  and  $\delta g_W^{e\nu}$  are the modifications to the gauge couplings of electron (and neutrino) to the Z, W bosons, and  $\delta_{m_W}$  modifes the W-boson mass.

Apart from  $\delta_{m_W}$  which is strongly constrained by the W-boson mass measurement, the EFT parameters receive strong energy enhancements and are much better probed at 240 GeV than around the WW threshold. The parameters are also sensitive to the differential distributions, which can be parameterized as five angles (the production polar angle and two decay angles for each W). We implement the so-called "optimal observables" [74] and perform a phenomenological analysis to efficiently extract the precision reach of the EFT parameters from the differential distributions. Our analysis follow closely the one in [34]. We focus on the semi-leptonic channel. We consider only statistical uncertainties, and apply a conservative 50% signal selection efficiency to account for possible effects of detector acceptance, systematic effects and signal selection cuts. The resulting likelihood of the 7 parameters above is combined with the Higgs and other electroweak measurements in the global SMEFT analysis in section III F.

# F. SMEFT global fit of Higgs and electroweak processes

The Standard Model Effective Field Theory (SMEFT) offers a systematic parameterization of the new physics effects in the Higgs and electroweak measurements. Assuming the scale of the new physics is significantly larger than the electroweak scale, and the electroweak symmetry breaking is linearly realized, the SM Lagrangian can be extended with a series of higher dimensional operators [75, 76],

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{SMEFT}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{SM}} + \sum_{i} \frac{c_i^{(6)}}{\Lambda^2} \mathcal{O}_i^{(6)} + \sum_{j} \frac{c_j^{(8)}}{\Lambda^4} \mathcal{O}_j^{(8)} + \cdots$$
(1)

where  $\Lambda$  denotes the scale of the new physics. Only operators of even dimensions are allowed if baryon and lepton numbers are conserved. For a sufficiently large  $\Lambda$ , the new physics effects could be well approximated by the dimension-6 operators. The general bottom-up approach is to start with a non-redundant basis and perform a global fit with all possible measurements to obtain the bounds on the operator coefficients. A more practical approach is to focus on a subset of the measurements, such as the the Higgs and electroweak ones, and obtain bounds on the operator coefficients that contribute to them at the leading order. This has been done in previous studies [25, 32, 34, 77–82]. Our analysis here follow closely the one in [34]. For CEPC, the measurement inputs we use are the Higgs rate measurements in Table II [83], the EW precision observables in Table III, and the measurements of  $e^+e^- \rightarrow$ WW in section IIIE. For comparison, we also perform the same analysis for the HL-LHC S2 scenario, with the Higgs measurement inputs from [31], the analysis of  $pp \to WW/WZ$ in [84], and the electroweak measurements at the LEP and the SLD in Ref. [37]. The results of our analysis are shown in Figure 4 in terms of the 95% reach on the combination  $\Lambda/\sqrt{c_i}$ (which corresponds to the scale of new physics if  $c_i = 1$ ), with operators defined in Table IV. Here we have imposed the flavor universality condition on the operators that contributes to the  $Zf\bar{f}$  couplings. The SMEFT fit results are also projected on the effective Higgs couplings and aTGCs shown previously in Figure 3. In this case, the flavor universality condition is reduced to a U(2) symmetry of the first two generation quarks. It can be seen in Figure 4 that the CEPC is able to provide  $\mathcal{O}(1-10)$  improvements on the reach on the new physics scale of the HL-LHC and LEP/SLD measurements. Compared with the SMEFT analysis in the CDR, one important difference is that the one in CDR assumes perfect Z-pole measurements, so that the corresponding EW operators can be eliminated in order to focus on the operators that only contributes to the Higgs and WW processes. This framework is expanded here to include realistic Z-pole measurements, and the constraints on the corresponding EW operators are also obtained.



FIG. 4. 95% reach on new physics scale  $(\Lambda/\sqrt{c_i})$  for various operators at HL-LHC and CEPC. The solid shaded columns are the results of the global fits, while the light shaded ones are the results of the individual fits, obtained by switching on one operator coefficient at a time. The operators are listed in Table IV.

$\mathcal{O}_H = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_\mu  H ^2)^2$	$\mathcal{O}_{GG} = g_s^2  H ^2 G^A_{\mu\nu} G^{A,\mu\nu}$	
$\mathcal{O}_{WW} = g^2  H ^2 W^a_{\mu\nu} W^{a,\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}_{y_u} = y_u  H ^2 \bar{q}_L \tilde{H} u_R + \text{h.c.}  (u \to t)$	,c)
$\mathcal{O}_{BB} = g^{\prime 2}  H ^2 B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}_{y_d} = y_d  H ^2 \bar{q}_L H d_R + \text{h.c.}  (d \to b)$	)
$\mathcal{O}_{HW} = ig(D^{\mu}H)^{\dagger}\sigma^{a}(D^{\nu}H)W^{a}_{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}_{y_e} = y_e  H ^2 \bar{l}_L H e_R + \text{h.c.}  (e \to \tau)$	$, \mu)$
$\mathcal{O}_{HB} = ig'(D^{\mu}H)^{\dagger}(D^{\nu}H)B_{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}_{3W} = \frac{1}{3!} g \epsilon_{abc} W^{a\nu}_{\mu} W^{b}_{\nu\rho} W^{c\rho\mu}$	
$\mathcal{O}_{WB} = gg' H^{\dagger} \sigma^a H W^a_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}_{\ell\ell} = (\bar{\ell}_L \gamma^\mu \ell_L) (\bar{\ell}_L \gamma_\mu \ell_L)$	
$\mathcal{O}_T = \frac{1}{2} (H^\dagger \overleftrightarrow{D_\mu} H)^2$	$\mathcal{O}_{He} = i H^{\dagger} \overleftrightarrow{D_{\mu}} H \bar{e}_R \gamma^{\mu} e_R$	
$\mathcal{O}_{Hq} = i H^{\dagger} \overleftrightarrow{D_{\mu}} H \bar{q}_L \gamma^{\mu} q_L$	$\mathcal{O}_{Hu} = iH^{\dagger}\overleftrightarrow{D_{\mu}}H\bar{u}_R\gamma^{\mu}u_R$	
$\mathcal{O}'_{Hq} = i H^{\dagger} \sigma^a \overleftrightarrow{D_{\mu}} H \bar{q}_L \sigma^a \gamma^{\mu} q_L$	$\mathcal{O}_{Hd} = iH^{\dagger}\overleftrightarrow{D_{\mu}}H\bar{d}_{R}\gamma^{\mu}d_{R}$	

TABLE IV. A set of non-redundant dimension-six operators that contributes to the Higgs and EW processes in our analysis.

# **IV. FLAVOR PHYSICS**

Flavor physics is an inseparable part of the physics case at CEPC. The rich phenomenology of flavored final states offers efficient ways to understand the SM better and scrutinize BSM physics. The paradigm of flavor physics relies on heavy quark or lepton decays, where the leading SM amplitudes are mediated by the heavy W boson. The decay width of a fermion f is therefore suppressed by the small  $m_f^4/m_W^4$ , and f becomes long-lived. Even minor theoretical corrections within the SM or BSM effects could reveal themselves on top of the extremely narrow SM widths.

The Tera-Z phase of CEPC stands at a privileged position of studying flavor physics [3]. By operating at the Z-pole, vast amounts of heavy flavor final states will be produced, thanks to the large  $\sigma(e^+e^- \rightarrow Z \rightarrow b\bar{b}, c\bar{c}, \tau^+\tau^-)$  and a high integrated luminosity. About  $\mathcal{O}(10^{11}) b\bar{b}, c\bar{c}, \text{ and } \tau^+\tau^-$  pairs will be produced at the Z factory phase of CEPC. Meanwhile,  $m_Z$  is sufficiently larger than  $m_{b,c,\tau}$ , creating a surplus of energy. Final state particles will thus be boosted even if they are soft in the rest frame of their mother particle decays, enhancing measurement accuracies. The abundant energy from Z decays also generates a variety of hadrons, including many rare (e.g.,  $B_c$  [85]) and exotic (e.g., tetraquarks [86]) species. Moreover, the cleanness of a lepton collider enables investigating decay modes that are extremely rare or containing neutral/invisible particles. Finally, unexpected discoveries may also come from the phases beyond the Z-pole run, such as the WW-threshold or Higgs factory phases. We summarize representative studies at CEPC and similar projects in the following.

## A. Precise Measurements of Flavor Physics Parameters

Parameters like the meson masses, CKM matrix elements, and CP phases are the cornerstone of flavor physics. Given the merits described above, we expect CEPC to push precisions of multiple parameters to unprecedented limits. It is also possible that the evidence of BSM physics first appears as discrepancies between precision measurements and the theory. Experimental approaches to these fundamental parameters have been developed in the past decades. Measurements at CEPC can follow those well-established methods, or more likely, by adopting new techniques exploiting the future collider. Examples include measuring final states with neutral/invisible particles or high track multiplicities, where the high particle boosts and low backgrounds make CEPC a powerful tool for their searches.

CP violation measurements at CEPC and other Z factory projects are under active progress. Promising projections are demonstrated when determining several angles like  $\gamma$  and  $\beta_s$ . The Tera-Z precision on the angle  $\beta_s$  using the fully charged  $B_s \rightarrow J/\psi(\rightarrow$  $\mu^+\mu^-)\phi(\rightarrow K^+K^-)$  [87, 88] is projected to be  $\simeq 0.1^\circ$ , comparable to the LHCb extrapolation after the high-luminosity runs. The phenomenology study on angle  $\gamma$  via a fully-charged  $B_s \to D_s^{\pm}(\to K^+K^-\pi^{\pm})K^{\mp}$  mode is also conducted [87], resulting a Tera-Z sensitivity about 1°. Alternatively, the determination of angle  $\gamma_s$  is also viable by including  $B^{\pm} \to D^0(\bar{D}^0)K^{\pm}$ decays [89]. Besides, preliminary analysis on  $B_{(s)} \to 2\pi^0(\to 4\gamma)$  decays [90] indicates the potential of pushing the  $\alpha$  angle uncertainty below 2°, while stronger constraints can be achieved by measuring  $B \to \rho\rho$  decays [91]. Other promising directions include observing the *CP* violations in semileptonic *B* decays and thus *CP* violations in *B* mixings [92].

For  $|V_{ij}|$  measurements, the global picture is less clear. The most remarkable progress known is the determination of  $|V_{cb}|$  in W decays, given the abundant W in the WW-threshold run and latest flavor tagging developments [93]. It serves as a manifest example of runs beyond the Z-pole that contribute to flavor physics. The relative size  $|V_{ub}/V_{cb}|$  can also be determined from semileptonic  $b \to u(c)\ell\nu$  transitions [94]. However, systematic exemplifications of many statements above are not yet available. We hope that such a gap of knowledge will be fully addressed by future studies.

#### B. (Semi)leptonic and Rare Decays

Z-pole phenomenology of (semi)leptonic and rare flavor changing neutral current (FCNC) decays, especially *b*-hadron decays, is significantly motivated by the recent observation of *B* anomalies [95, 96]. These decays are the direct test of lepton flavor universality (LFU) [97] and thus also sensitive to BSM physics coupling to the lepton sector [98–102].

For charged-current-induced  $b \to c\ell(\tau)\nu$  transitions, the bottleneck of measurement would be the  $\tau$  modes as  $\tau$  decays lead to extra neutrinos and softer tracks. Breakthroughs in these channels are expected because of the high final state boost and cleanness at the Z pole. The first example is the  $B_c \to \tau \nu$  decay, where the constraint from  $\Gamma(B_c)$  is weak [95]. The CEPC Tera-Z study [103] uses full simulation and leptonic  $\tau$  decays (see also [104] where the hadronic decay is used). The sensitivities from both methods agree and the number of  $B_c \to \tau \nu$  decays is measured  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$  level. A work in preparation [105] simulates the measurements of  $R_{D_s}$ ,  $R_{D_s^*}$ ,  $R_{J/\psi}$ , and  $R_{\Lambda_c}$  at Tera-Z. All four R values can be pinned down with precisions of (sub)percent level with high signal-to-noise ratios. The combined results can push the scale of BSM physics up to the multi-TeV range [106].

Another obstacle emerges when it comes to FCNC rare decays, is their low SM branching ratio  $\leq 10^{-5}$ . Careful background mitigation and accurate event reconstruction are necessary

to probe such modes at CEPC. Based on the same arguments above, CEPC can bring unique sensitivities to di- $\tau$  modes of  $b \to s\tau^+\tau^-$  [107, 108], where the future sensitivities from Belle II and LHCb cannot cover the small SM predicted BRs~ 10<sup>-7</sup> [91, 109]. The Tera-Z sensitivities to BR( $B^0 \to K^*\tau^+\tau^-$ ), BR( $B_s \to \phi\tau^+\tau^-$ ), BR( $B^{\pm} \to K^{\pm}\tau^+\tau^-$ ), and BR( $B_s \to \tau^+\tau^-$ ) decays are evaluated using 3-prong tau decays [108], reaching  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-5})$  for the two-body  $B_s \to \tau^+\tau^-$  mode and  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-7})$  for other three-body modes. For the baseline CEPC luminosity, such sensitivities can O(1) deviations from the SM. For di-muon modes, the current benchmarks are the  $B^0 \to \mu^+\mu^-$  and  $B_s \to \mu^+\mu^-$  measurements [110]. While the former is primarily limited by statistics and reaching high sensitivity, the later will also affected by  $B^0 \to \pi^+\pi^-$  decays via  $\pi/\mu$  misidentification.

The rare decay with two neutrinos,  $B_s \rightarrow \phi \nu \bar{\nu}$ , are also analyzed with the full CEPC detector simulation [111]. The estimated relative uncertainty at the Tera-Z stage reaches  $\leq 2\%$ . The study also illustrates the accurate kinematic reconstructions and differential measurements involving a large missing momentum by virtue of the advanced tracking and calorimetry techniques. It is also noteworthy that the above discussions of CEPC may also apply to other FCNC rare decays like (double) radiative decays [112] or charm decays [113], although more thorough studies are needed.

# C. Low multiplicity and $\tau$ Physics

The large amount of  $\tau$ 's produced at the Z-pole are clean and energetic ( $\gamma_{\tau} \sim 26$ ). Including the tagging efficiency, the effective  $\tau$  statistics at CEPC will exceed those at Belle II [91] or even the future Super Tau Charm Factory [114]. The Z-pole phase of CEPC is therefore an ideal facility to study  $\tau$  physics, with the physics reaches extensively discussed in [115]. On the other hand, the low final state multiplicity of the  $Z \rightarrow \tau^+ \tau^-$  process is analogous to many distinct physics cases, *e.g.*, exclusive Z hadronic decays [116] and  $e^+e^-$  interactions with significant radiative return [117]. The phenomenological similarities between the above physics lead to close connections between their signal identification or even shared backgrounds.

The current focus of the  $\tau$  physics at the Z-pole is the charged-lepton flavor violating (cLFV) interaction in  $\tau$  and Z decays. As the cLFV interactions are highly suppressed in the SM, even tiny BSM amplitudes would overwhelm the SM prediction and introduce striking

signals [118–120]. The latest study also emphasized the complementarity between cLFV Z and  $\tau$  decays [121]. The projected sensitivities to two benchmarks  $\tau$  exotic decays,  $\tau \to 3\mu$ and  $\tau \to \mu\gamma$ , are comparable to the Belle II expectations [91]. Additionally, the basic  $\tau$ properties (e.g., mass and lifetime) and LFU tests in leptonic  $\tau$  decays are also appropriate targets at CEPC. Many aspects of  $\tau$  physics remain to be fully explored at CEPC, including the  $\alpha_s$  determination in hadronic  $\tau$  decays [122], the  $\tau$  polarimetry as a measurement of EW physics [123], the production of  $\tau^+\tau^-$  bound states [124], and *CP* violating  $\tau$  decays [125].

Measurement	Current [126]	FCC [115]	Tera- $Z$ Prelim. [127]	Comments
Lifetime [sec]	$\pm 5\times 10^{-16}$	$\pm 1\times 10^{-18}$		from 3-prong decays, stat. limited
$\mathrm{BR}(\tau \to \ell \nu \bar{\nu})$	$\pm 4\times 10^{-4}$	$\pm 3\times 10^{-5}$		$0.1\times$ the ALEPH systematics
$m(\tau) \ [MeV]$	$\pm 0.12$	$\pm 0.004 \pm 0.1$		$\sigma(p_{\rm track})$ limited
${\rm BR}(\tau\to 3\mu)$	$<2.1\times10^{-8}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-10})$	same	bkg free
$BR(\tau \rightarrow 3e)$	$<2.7\times10^{-8}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-10})$		bkg free
$\mathrm{BR}(\tau^{\pm} \to e \mu \mu)$	$<2.7\times10^{-8}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-10})$		bkg free
${\rm BR}(\tau^{\pm} \to \mu ee)$	$< 1.8 \times 10^{-8}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-10})$		bkg free
${\rm BR}(\tau \to \mu \gamma)$	$<4.4\times10^{-8}$	$\sim 2\times 10^{-9}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-10})$	$Z \to \tau \tau \gamma$ bkg , $\sigma(p_\gamma)$ limited
$\mathrm{BR}(\tau \to e \gamma)$	$< 3.3 \times 10^{-8}$	$\sim 2\times 10^{-9}$		$Z \to \tau \tau \gamma$ bkg, $\sigma(p_{\gamma})$ limited
$BR(Z \to \tau \mu)$	$< 1.2 \times 10^{-5}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-9})$	same	$\tau \tau$ bkg, $\sigma(p_{\text{track}})$ & $\sigma(E_{\text{beam}})$ limited
$\mathrm{BR}(Z \to \tau e)$	$<9.8\times10^{-6}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-9})$		$\tau \tau$ bkg, $\sigma(p_{\text{track}})$ & $\sigma(E_{\text{beam}})$ limited
$BR(Z \to \mu e)$	$<7.5\times10^{-7}$	$10^{-8} - 10^{-10}$	$\mathcal{O}(10^{-9})$	PID limited
$BR(Z \to \pi^+\pi^-)$			$\mathcal{O}(10^{-10})$	$\sigma(\vec{p}_{\mathrm{track}})$ limited, good PID
${\rm BR}(Z\to\pi^+\pi^-\pi^0)$			$\mathcal{O}(10^{-9})$	au au bkg
${\rm BR}(Z \to J/\psi \gamma)$	$< 1.4 \times 10^{-6}$		$10^{-9} - 10^{-10}$	$\ell\ell\gamma{+}\tau\tau\gamma$ bkg
${\rm BR}(Z\to\rho\gamma)$	$<2.5\times10^{-5}$		$\mathcal{O}(10^{-9})$	$\tau \tau \gamma$ bkg, $\sigma(p_{\text{track}})$ limited

TABLE V. Projected sensitivities of  $\tau$  physics at the Z-factory run of FCC-*ee* [115] and recent Tera-Z updates [127]. All numbers are presented as absolute instead of relative values. For  $\tau \to 3e$ ,  $\tau \to \mu ee$ , and  $\tau \to e\mu\mu$  limits, we assume the sensitivities are similar to that of  $\tau \to 3\mu$ . The expected reaches for several exclusive hadronic Z decays are also listed.

The low multiplicity of aforementioned  $\tau$  physics studies also inspires the search for exclusive Z hadronic decays. In those searches, the hierarchy between  $m_Z$  and  $\Lambda_{\text{QCD}}$  and small backgrounds offer an excellent chance to test the factorization theorem and extract the internal structure of mesons [128]. In Table V, we list the FCC-ee projections provided in [115] and the comparison with current limits. A preliminary update [127] from the CEPC full detector simulations and lepton PID performance [129] are also listed for comparison.

#### V. BEYOND THE STANDARD MODEL PHYSICS

CEPC not only serves as a Higgs factory, but also has a tremendous potential to search for the direct production of new physics states. In particular, with a very clean collision background, CEPC has the discovery advantage in many scenarios which are challenging at hadron colliders due to sizable backgrounds, large pile-up, trigger constraints from high energy objects, and difficulties in object reconstruction and identification. The identification of the Higgs bosons via the recoil mass method together with its high reconstruction efficiency makes it extremely sensitive to probe the exotic decays of the Higgs bosons at the CEPC. Moreover, it can also be sensitive to models various new physics scenarios, including Supersymmetry, Dark Matter, Long-Lived Particles, and more. The rest of the section is dedicated to describe the reach of the CEPC in probing these new physics scenarios, within an emphasis on updating the results reported in the CDR [3].

#### A. Higgs Exotic Decays

New physics could reveal themselves in the Higgs exotic decays, especially hidden sector dynamics through this generic Higgs portal. The Higgs exotic decay program complements the Higgs coupling precision measurements and is a critical component of future Higgs factories.

A survey of lepton collider sensitivities to Higgs exotic decays into final states was initially carried out in Ref. [130], focusing on challenging channels at hadron colliders. The study shows promising sensitivities at lepton colliders. This study focuses on two-body Higgs decays into BSM particles, dubbed as  $X_i$ ,  $h \to X_1X_2$ , which are allowed to decay further, to up to four-body final states. The cascade decay modes are classified into four cases, schematically shown in Fig. 5. A large class of BSM physics, such as singlet extensions, two-Higgs-doublet-models, SUSY models, Higgs portals, gauge extensions of the SM [130–133], motivates these exotic decay considerations.



FIG. 5. Representative topologies of the Higgs exotic decays.

For CEPC 240 GeV, the dominant Higgs production is Z-Higgs associated production process. The Z boson with visible decays enables Higgs tagging using the "recoil mass" technique. A selection cut around the peak of the recoil mass removes most of the SM background. A large number of analyses are described in [130], and we summarize the results in Fig. 6, providing the projection 95% C.L. limits for the CEPC with 20 ab<sup>-1</sup> integrated luminosity. We also include the projected LHC sensitivities in gray bars. We use the up-to-date projected sensitivities for the LHC constraints, but many do not exist or are very conservative. More recent studies, e.g., Ref. [134] on  $h \to 4\tau$ , and Ref. [135] on  $h \to 4b$ , show consistent projection on sensitivities as well.

The LHC will provide strong constraints on many channels with muons, electrons, and photons. For the more challenging channels shown here, which rely on signals from jets, heavy quarks, and taus, the improvements over the LHC expectations vary from one to four orders of magnitude. This great advantage benefits from the low QCD background and Higgs tagging from the recoil mass technique at future lepton colliders. For the Higgs exotic decays without missing energy, the improvement varies between two to three orders of magnitude, except for the one order of magnitude improvement for the  $(\gamma\gamma)(\gamma\gamma)$  channel. Here the possibility at the LHC of reconstruction of the Higgs mass from the final state particles provides additional signal-background discrimination power. Channels with electrons, muons, and photons, which are relatively clean objects at the LHC, can take advantage of the higher statistics available from the HL-LHC.

Many new and interesting channels deserve further study. Higgs exotic decays of  $H \rightarrow XX \rightarrow 4f$  where the intermediate resonant particle X mass is below 10 GeV is one of these channels. This scenario is particularly motivated by the recent discussion of the connection between Higgs exotic decay and strongly first-order electroweak phase transitions [136, 137]. In this region, the particle X can be long-lived, so the study should be extended into long-



FIG. 6. The 95% C.L. upper limit on selected Higgs exotic decay branching fractions at HL-LHC and CEPC, based on Ref [130]. The CEPC curves are derived using results from Ref [130] with leptonic decaying Z boson in the  $e^-e^+ \rightarrow ZH$  process. The CEPC<sup>\*</sup> scenario further utilizes the hadronically decaying Z boson and includes an estimated (indicative) improvement of 40%. Each set of three bars describes a different topology of exotic Higgs decay. For a recent review on current LHC constraints, see Ref. [133].

lived particle regime [138].

Another example is the Higgs decay into a dark shower, that is, a shower of dark-sector particles.[139] These can either decay promptly or be long-lived and their decay back to visible SM particles can be either hadronic or leptonic. The process is motivated by generic considerations of hidden sector strong dynamics. It also appears in the discussion of neutral naturalness [140]. Current studies have been focusing on the Higgs decays into a pair of twin glueballs [138, 141–145], but this is only a subclass of the generic Higgs decays into these final states. This dark shower channel is also motivated by the class of models with a large number of light scalars [146], e.g., NNaturalness [147], EW scale as a trigger [148], and delayed or non-restored electroweak symmetry [149–152].

#### **B.** Supersymmetry

Supersymmetry (SUSY) provides an intriguing candidate to solve the gauge hierarchy problem in the Standard Model (SM). In Supersymmetric SMs (SSMs) have many appealing features, including gauge coupling unification, dynamical electroweak symmetry breaking. In addition, the Lightest Supersymmetric Particle (LSP) such as neutralino can serve as a viable dark matter (DM) candidate with R-parity conservation. The SUSY searches at the LHC have already set strong constraints on the SSMs [153–156]. The CEPC will run at much lower energies. At the same time, it can be complementary in covering parameter spaces which are difficult for the LHC to reach. This is particularly important for the search for some of uncolored new physics particles. In this section, as a demonstration, we present recent studies of a couple such examples. In addition, the precision measurements at the CEPC can also probe SUSY even without direct production of the new particles. To give an example of such an approach, we will show a recent study of a global using GAMBIT.

#### 1. Light electroweakino and slepton searches

In this section, we will present recent studies of the reach of the CEPC on several scenarios with light electroweakino and sleptons. These scenarios can have various physics motivations (for some examples, see [157-160]).



FIG. 7. Left plot shows the observed and expected exclusion limits on simplified SUSY models for chargino-pair production with Higgsino-like LSP obtained by ATLAS. The observed limits obtained by LEP are shown with light grey. The prospected limits at CEPC are also shown in the dotted purple line for rough comparison. Right plot shows the  $5\sigma$  discovery contour (solid line) and  $2\sigma$ exclusion contour (dashed line) for the direct stau production and direct smuon production with 5% flat systematic uncertainty.

The light Higgsino particles, well-motivated by naturalness conditions, tend to have small mass splitting among the chargino and neutralino. Therefore, they are quite challenge to be probed in the LHC experiments due to the very soft decay products. The sensitivity studies for chargino pair production by considering scenarios for both a Bino-like and a Higgsino-like neutralino as the LSP have been performed and published at [161]. With the cleaner collision environment and better low energy particle reconstruction, CEPC has shown the capability of probing the very compressed region.



FIG. 8. Left: acceptance of signal and background processes as functions of  $m_{\tilde{B}}$ . Here the acceptance of background process has been multiplied by 10,000. Right:  $2\sigma$  exclusion and  $5\sigma$  observation limits on the  $m_{\tilde{e}} - m_{\tilde{B}}$  plane at a future lepton collider running with an integral luminosity 5.6 ab<sup>-1</sup> and center-of-mass energy 240 GeV. Regions below the red (blue) curves are observable (excluded).

A light Bino (SUSY partner of  $U(1)_Y$  gauge boson, to be labeled as  $\tilde{B}$ ) ( $\mathcal{O}(10)$  GeV scale) are still not excluded by the current SUSY searches. A search for light bino scenario (motivated by Gauge-Mediated SUSY Breaking [162]) at CEPC has been performed [163], in which bino is the next-to-lightest supersymmetric particle (NLSP), while the lightest supersymmetric particle (LSP) and dark matter candidate is the sub-GeV gravitino (to be labeled as  $\tilde{G}$ ). The process of bino pair production via a t-channel selectron (labeled as  $\tilde{e}$ ), where bino subsequently decay to gravitino and a photon, has been considered, namely  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \tilde{B}\tilde{B} \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\tilde{G}\tilde{G}$ . The corresponding dominant background process is  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma\gamma\nu\bar{\nu}$ 

(via Z boson invisible decay), which has been suppressed by a dedicated cut-flow using a list of kinematic variables with good signal and background seperation power. The study shows that CEPC is able to exclude selectron lighter than 4.5 TeV (2 TeV) with bino mass around 10 GeV (100 GeV), see Fig. 8, which is much larger than current LHC bound which exclude selectron mass up to several hundreds GeV.

Light smuon and stau particles are interesting to search for in their own right, and they are also favored by the latest muon g-2 excess. At the same time, it is challenging to search them at the LHC, especially in the region where their masses are close to that of the LSP. Such regions are also favored by dark matter relic density requirements. They have also been explored with CEPC detector [164]. Assuming a flat 5% systematic uncertainty, the discovery sensitivity can reach up to 117 (116) GeV for smuon (stau) mass via direct smuon (stau) production. The above results can fill a significant region in the gap in the LHC search.

Somewhat heavier selectrons, above the kinematic limit for direct production, can also be searched for in the process [165]:  $e_R^+ e_R^- \rightarrow \tilde{\chi}_1^0(\text{bino}) + \tilde{\chi}_1^0(\text{bino}) + \gamma$ . The reach depends on the model assumptions. For example, if the relic abundance requirement is satisfied by LSP annihilating through the Z-pole, the right-handed selectron will be excluded up to 180 (210) GeV respectively at  $3(2)\sigma$ . On the other hand, if the annihilation through the Higgs pole dominates, right-handed selectron will be excluded up to 140 (180) GeV at  $3(2)\sigma$ .

For both electroweakino and slepton searches, the discovery potential can reached up to the kinematic limit of the detector  $\sqrt{s}/2$ , and cover interesting parameter regions. It is shown that CEPC can have its own role to play in the search for SUSY. The examples shown here have a minor dependence on the reconstruction model and detector geometry. Moreover, these results can be considered as a reference and benchmark for similar searches at other proposed electron-positron colliders, such as the Future Circular Collider ee (FCC-ee) or the International Linear Collider (ILC), given the similar nature of the facilities, detectors, center-of-mass energies, and target luminosities.

# 2. SUSY global fits

In this section, we present a study of the impact of the Higgs and electroweak precision measurements at the CEPC with GAMBIT global fits of several constrained versions of the



FIG. 9. The profile likelihood ratio in the CMSSM for the present (top left panel) and for the future with additional CEPC measurements (bottom panels), with 68% and 95% CL contours drawn in white, and the best-fit point indicated by a star. The top right panel shows mechanisms for ensuring that the dark matter relic density does not exceed the measured value in  $2\sigma$  contours of present likelihoods. We use values of the best-fit point in CMSSM to set the central values of measurements at CEPC, and the theoretical uncertainties are k = 1/5 times smaller than the current SM Higgs theoretical uncertainties.

MSSM, namely the Constrained Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model (CMSSM), the Non-Universal Higgs Mass generalisations (NUHM1 and NUHM2) and the seven-dimensional weak scale phenomenological MSSM (MSSM7) [166]. Besides the likelihoods of Higgs and electroweak measurements at the CEPC, the global fits include several direct and indirect dark matter searches, a large collection of electroweak precision and flavor observables, direct searches for SUSY at the LEP, and Runs I and II of the LHC. We showed that the CEPC can further test the currently allowed parameter space of these models, advance our understanding of the mass spectrum, and be complementary to the dark matter searches, as illustrated in Figure 9.

#### C. Dark Matter and Dark Sector

There are plenty of evidence for the existence of Dark Matter (DM) from astrophysical and cosmological observations, and detecting DM at the colliders is very important as a complementary of direct and indirect detection experiments. And we have many ways to probe DM at colliders. The case of the SUSY LSP (Bino, Higgsino, Wino, Gravitino, Axino etc.) in the SSMs have already been discussed in the previous sub-section. More broadly, thermally produced light DM particles can also couple to the SM through various portals, such as the lepton, Higgs, or dark quark portals. Many studies have been carried out in this scenario. In this section, we present several new results which highlight the capability of the CEPC.

# 1. Lepton portal Dark Matter

In many WIMP models, the signals for direct and indirect detection can be suppressed. In this case, the collider searches are crucial. One such example is the lepton portal model [167], in which a Majorana DM candidate, denoted as  $\chi$ , couples to the SM right-handed leptons  $\ell_R$  via a complex charged scalar mediator S via  $y_{\ell}\bar{\chi}_L\ell_R S^{\dagger}$ . Reference [168] studied the collider phenomenology of this model and the interplay with the gravitational wave (GW) astronomy. The masses of DM and mediator, as well as the lepton coupling  $y_{\ell}$  and the Higgs portal coupling  $|S|^2|H|^2$  can be probed at the CEPC via the pair production of mediators  $e^+e^- \rightarrow S^{\pm(*)}S^{\mp} \rightarrow \ell^+\chi\ell'^-\chi$ , exotic decays of the Higgs or Z boson,  $h/Z \rightarrow S^{\pm(*)}S^{\mp(*)} \rightarrow$  $\ell^+\chi\ell'^-\chi$  and  $h \rightarrow \chi\chi$ , and the Higgs couplings, including  $h\ell^+\ell^-$ ,  $h\gamma\gamma$  and hZZ. In addition to the collider signals, the model might trigger a first-order phase transition in the early Universe, provided that the mediator mass parameter  $\mu_S^2$  is negative, and the portal coupling  $\lambda_{HS}$  is large enough. In this case, the phase transition GWs can also be a probe of the model. Figure 10 shows the LISA projections and the CEPC Higgs precision measurement



FIG. 10. Figure from Ref. [168], the interplay between GW detection and future  $e^+e^-$  collider searches. The gray shaded region is the LISA detectable parameter space. From left to right, the sensitivities for  $\lambda_{HS}$  are shown from future CEPC precision measurements, in which the region above a given  $m_{\chi}$  (corresponding to a colored line) can be probed.

sensitivities for comparison, where the overlap of the parameter space reachable by the two probes can be used for crosschecking any potential excess and obtaining more information. For the rest of the parameter space, the two approaches are complementary. The idea of Ref. [168] can be generalized to other WIMP models that are difficult to be probed in the direct and indirect detections, especially the models with scalar DM and/or mediators in which a first-order phase transition may happen.

#### 2. Asymmetric Dark Matter

In addition to DM, the observed baryon asymmetry of the Universe (BAU) is also a main puzzle in cosmology and particle physics. Current measurements show that the abundance of baryon and DM are roughly at the same order of magnitude ( $\Omega_{\rm DM} \simeq 5\Omega_{\rm B}$ ) [169, 170]. This coincidence provides the motivation to consider the so-called "asymmetric DM" (ADM) model [171–174].

A new ADM model has been proposed and studied in [175]. In this model, the dark sector is charged under a dark QCD, SU(3)', and the mass of DM is generated via the dark confinement (so our DM is actually a "dark baryon"). Furthermore, to generate dark and visible asymmetry simultaneously, we introduce a scalar mediator (labeled as  $\Phi$ ) that is charged under SU(3)' and standard model (SM)  $U(1)_Y$ . Mediator  $\Phi$  couples to dark quark



(labeled as q') and SM right-hand leptons, and thus provide a portal for us to search for.

FIG. 11. Left: An illustration of the signal process at CEPC. Detector is represented by two circles. Black dotted lines and red solid lines are dark pions and muons, respectively. Right: 2  $\sigma$  exclusion limits on the mediator mass  $m_{\Phi}$  as a function of the dark pion proper decay length, with coupling  $\kappa$  fixed to 0.5 and 1.0 respectively.

The Lagrangian related to collider search is

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \bar{q'}(\not\!\!D - m_{q'})q' + (D_{\mu}\Phi)^{\dagger}(D^{\mu}\Phi) - m_{\Phi}^{2}\Phi^{\dagger}\Phi - \frac{1}{4}G'^{\mu\nu}G'_{\mu\nu} - (\kappa\Phi\bar{q'}_{L}l_{R} + h.c.) , \qquad (2)$$

where  $G'^{\mu\nu}$  is the field strength of dark gluon. Mediator  $\Phi$  can be produced in pairs at LHC via the Hyper charge it carries. Then  $\Phi$  decays to a SM lepton and a dark quark q'. While on CEPC,  $q'\bar{q}'$  can be produced directly via a t-channel  $\Phi$ . Due to the dark confinement, q'will hadronize to a cluster of dark mesons (labeled as  $\pi'$ ). Dark meson  $\pi'$  (long-lived) will decay to lepton pair via the  $\Phi$  portal, and leave displaced vertex inside detector. Fig. 11 (left) shows the predicted signal process on CEPC for illustration. The study shows that CEPC has the ability to cover a large parameter space of this model, see Fig. 11 (right). The mass of mediator can be excluded up to  $\mathcal{O}(10)$  TeV, if the proper lifetime of dark pion  $\pi'$  is between 10 mm and 10 m. This bound is stronger than the limit from current ATLAS displaced lepton jet search result [176].

# 3. Dark sector from exotic Z decay

Operating in the Z-factory mode, the CEPC can produce on the order of 10<sup>12</sup> of Zs (Tera-Z). At the same time, CEPC has less QCD background and fixed center of mass energy,



FIG. 12. The reach for the branching ratio of various exotic Z decay modes at the future Z-factories (Giga Z and Tera Z) and the HL-LHC at 13 TeV with  $\mathcal{L} = 3 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ . The sensitivities in general generally also depend on model parameter, such as the masses of the mediator and dark matter (see Fig. 13 for some examples). The dark colored regions with solid boundary represent the reach for worst case in the parameter space the, while the lighter regions with dashed boundary indicates reach in the the best case.

In [178], we have studied a broad range of dark sector models and model independent exotic Z decay channels at future  $e^+e^-$  colliders with the Giga Z and Tera Z options. Four general categories of dark sector models have been included: Higgs portal dark matter, vector portal dark matter, inelastic dark matter and axion like particles. Focusing on channels motivated by the dark sector models, a model independent study of the sensitivities of Zfactories are also carried out. The results are compared with the reach of high luminosity LHC (HL-LHC). The final states of the exotic decays are categorized according to the number of resonances, and possible topologies. The projected reach for those channels is shown in Fig. 12. In comparison with the HL-LHC, the future Z-factories can be more sensitive to many interesting decay modes.



FIG. 13. The reach of direct detection (red), indirect detection (brown), and searches at  $e^-e^+$ collider (blue) in the  $\epsilon$  vs.  $m_K$  plane. We fix  $g_D = 0.01$ ,  $m_{\chi} = 0.2m_K$  (left panel) and  $m_{\chi} = 0.495m_K$  (right panel). We also show the contours when  $\chi$  satisfies the relic density measurement by the Planck collaboration [179] as black dashed lines. The existing constraints from LEP electroweak precision measurements (LEP-EWPT) and the BaBar search for the  $\tilde{K}$  invisible decay (BaBar) are also included.

In addition to the Z factory mode, new hidden states can be associated produced with Z and H bosons at the CEPC. In [180], we studied the reach of an ultraviolet (UV) model: Double Dark Portal model from this production mode at CEPC with  $\mathcal{L} = 5 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ . This model contains both vector and scalar portals. The collider searches do not depend sensitively on the dark matter mass, as long as the dark photon can decay to dark matter. On the other hand, the constraints from dark matter detection and indirect detection experiments, as well as the relic abundance requirement, are sensitive to the dark matter mass. We also emphasize that the collider constraint is not sensitive to the coupling between the DM and the mediator, as long as the invisible decay of dark photon dominates. Therefore, the reach from a future  $e^+e^-$  collider will complement and supersede that of the dark matter searches.

#### D. Long-lived Particle Searches

Many new physics theories predict Long-Lived Particles (LLPs) [181–186], which have detectable macroscopic decay lengths. The long lifetime can be due to feeble couplings with the SM particles, phase space suppression, or heavy mediators.

The LLPs, after being produced at colliders, travel a macroscopic distance before decaying into other SM and/or new particles, which gives interesting signal in detectors. If LLPs are neutral and they can decay into visible objects, they will lead to the typical "Displaced Vertex" (DV) signature, which means that the decay vertex of LLP is considerably displaced from its production vertex. On the other hand, they lead to the so called "disappearing track" signature for charged LLPs.

The displaced distance depends on the lifetimes and velocities of LLPs. When their lifetimes match the size of a usual detector (such as ATLAS, CMS, or a general purpose detector at the CEPC) at an interaction point (IP), which we call "*near detector*" or abbreviate as "ND" in this section, the LLPs have a significant probability of decaying inside the detector. When LLPs have much longer lifetime, since LLPs usually have feeble couplings to the detector material, neutral LLPs are more likely to decay outside the ND, contribute to the missing energy. A detector far away from the IP, which we call "*far detector*" or abbreviate as "FD" in this section, can also be beneficial since it would not have a lot the background coming from the hard collision.

#### 1. Results with Near Detectors

# 1.1 Light Neutralinos from Z-boson Decays

Ref. [187] investigates the potential of detecting the LLPs for the near detector of CEPC/FCC-ee. Long-lived lightest neutralinos pairs  $(\tilde{\chi}_1^0 \tilde{\chi}_1^0)$ , in the context of the R-parity violating supersymmetry (RPV-SUSY), are produced from Z-decays. The analysis indicates that when assuming BR $(Z \to \tilde{\chi}_1^0 \tilde{\chi}_1^0) = 10^{-3}$  and  $m_{\tilde{\chi}_1^0} \sim 40$  GeV, the model parameter  $\lambda'_{112}/m_{\tilde{f}}^2$  can be discovered down to as low as  $\sim 1.5 \times 10^{-14}$  ( $3.9 \times 10^{-14}$ ) GeV<sup>-2</sup> at the CEPC and FCC-ee operating in the Z-pole mode with 16 (150)  $ab^{-1}$  integrated luminosity. Fig. 14 shows sensitivity estimate of the CEPC (grey) and the FCC-ee (green) presented in the 2D plane of  $\lambda'_{112}/m_{\tilde{f}}^2$  vs.  $m_{\tilde{\chi}_1^0}$  assuming BR $(Z \to \tilde{\chi}_1^0 \tilde{\chi}_1^0) = 10^{-3}$ . Limits are compared with other

experiments, and results exceed the projected sensitivity reaches of the ATLAS experiment at the HL-LHC and the proposed LHC experiments with far detectors (AL3X, CODEX-b, FASER, and MATHUSLA). More results can be found in Ref. [187].



FIG. 14. The discovery limits of long-lived neutralinos for the near detector of CEPC/FCCee [187]. The solid contour curves correspond to three decay events in the fiducial volume when considering all decay modes of  $\tilde{\chi}_1^0$ , while the dashed lines include only visible/charged decay modes  $(K^{(*)\pm}e^{\mp}, e^-us \text{ or } e^+\bar{u}\bar{s})$ . The estimates for experiments at the LHC: AL3X, CODEX-b, FASER and MATHUSLA, are reproduced from Refs. [188, 189]. The ATLAS results correspond to HL-LHC with  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV and 3  $ab^{-1}$  integrated luminosity. The black horizontal dashed lines correspond to the current RPV bounds on the single coupling  $\lambda'_{112}$  [190] for three different degenerate sfermion masses  $m_{\tilde{f}} = 250$  GeV, 1 TeV, and 5 TeV as labelled.

#### 2. Results with FADEPC

Inspired by the proposed new experiments MATHUSLA [191, 192], CODEX-b [193], FASER [194], AL3X [193] and ANUBIS [195], Ref. [196] has proposed to install Far Detectors at the Electron Positron Collider (FADEPC), which are new detectors at a position far from the interaction point (IP) at generic high energy  $e^-e^+$  colliders such as the CEPC, FCC-ee, ILC and CLIC [197]. Ref. [196] has developed eight different designs of such far detectors ("FD1–FD8") by varying the locations, volumes, and geometries. The design with small geometry size can be placed inside the experiment hall or can be placed in a cavern or shaft near the experiment hall. Other designs have big volume and can be placed on the ground above the IP.

The discovery potential of such FDs for four physics scenarios has been investigated in Refs. [196, 198]. It was found that such new experiments with far detectors at future lepton colliders can extend and complement the sensitivity to the LLPs of the experiments at the future lepton colliders with usual near detectors and the present and future experiments at the LHC.



Fig. 15. The reachs for  $Br(h \rightarrow XX)$  of the CEPC/FCC-ee's far detectors FD1, FD3, FD6, compared with predictions for the CEPC/FCC-ee's near detector (ND) and for AL3X, CODEX-b and MATHUSLA100 [196].

# 2.1 Light Scalars from Exotic Higgs Decays

Ref. [196] considered the Higgs bosons decaying into a pair of light scalars  $X: h \to XX$ , varying the proper decay length  $(c\tau)$  of X and branching ratio of the Higgs boson decaying into a pair of X, Br $(h \to XX)$ , so as to find the sensitive parameter spaces for various far detector designs. Fig. 15 presents the results in the Br $(h \to XX)$  vs.  $c\tau$  plane for benchmark value of  $m_X = 0.5$  GeV. It compares the sensitivity projections of FD1, FD3 and FD6, with those of the CEPC/FCC-ee's near detector, and of other future detectors at the LHC such as CODEX-b [193], MATHUSLA [199] and AL3X [200]. More results can be found in Ref. [196].

# 2.2 Heavy Neutral Leptons

Ref. [196] considered the heavy neutral leptos (HNLs) produced from Z-decays at an



Fig. 16. Reaches for HNLs of both the far and near detectors at the CEPC/FCC-ee with three different integrated luminosities  $\mathcal{L}_Z$  [196].

 $e^-e^+$  collider running at the Z-pole, and made sensitivity predictions for both the far detectors FD1-FD8 and near detectors at the CEPC and FCC-ee. Fig. 16 compares the performance of the CEPC/FCC-ee's ND, FD3, and FD6 for a variety of integrated luminosities  $\mathcal{L}_Z$ . For  $\mathcal{L}_Z = 750 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ , they find that FD6 may reach  $\sim 10^{-11}$  for  $m_N$  between 10 and 20 GeV. Furthermore, the previous limits all assume only one single HNL mixes with one single generation of active neutrino generations. If one HNL has equal mixings with all three active neutrino generations, i.e.  $|V_{eN}|^2 = |V_{\mu N}|^2 = |V_{\tau N}|^2$ , with  $\mathcal{L}_Z = 750 \text{ ab}^{-1}$ , the combination of FD6 and the near detector at the CEPC or FCC-ee may probe the Type I seesaw model for  $m_N$  between 10 and 60 GeV. The strategy is thus able to test the Type I seesaw model directly in such case. Limits are also compared with other experiments and details can be found in Ref. [196].

# 2.3 Light Neutralinos from Z-boson Decays

Ref. [196] considered the case of a pair of the lightest neutralinos from Z decays,  $Z \rightarrow \tilde{\chi}_1^0 \tilde{\chi}_1^0$ , in the context of RPV-SUSY. Fig. 17 compares the sensitivity reaches of representative far detectors with those of the CEPC/FCC-ee's near detector, and future experiments at the LHC. The black horizontal dashed lines correspond to the current RPV bounds on the single coupling  $\lambda'_{112}$  [190] for three different degenerate sfermion masses  $m_{\tilde{f}} = 250$  GeV, 1 TeV, and 5 TeV as labelled. The 3-signal-event isocurves of the near detectors at the CEPC and FCC-ee are reproduced from Ref. [187] by adopting the CEPC's baseline detector, and



Fig. 17. Reaches for RPV neutralino of the CEPC/FCC-ee's far detectors FD1, FD3, FD6, compared with predictions for the CEPC/FCC-ee's near detector (ND) and other experiments [196].

the predictions for future LHC detectors (CODEX-b, FASER, MATHUSLA and AL3X) are extracted from Refs. [188, 189] for the same physics scenario. More results including the sensitivities for the signal scenario at HL-LHC with  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV and 3  $ab^{-1}$  integrated luminosity can be found in Ref. [196].

# 2.4 Axion-like Particles

Ref. [198] investigates FDs' potential for discovering long-lived axion-like particles (ALPs) via the process  $e^-e^+ \rightarrow \gamma a$ ,  $a \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$  at future  $e^-e^+$  colliders running at center-of-mass energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 91.2$  GeV and integrated luminosities of 16, 150, and 750 ab<sup>-1</sup>. Sensitivities on the model parameters are estimated in terms of the effective ALP-photon-photon coupling  $C_{\gamma\gamma}/\Lambda$ , the effective ALP-photon-Z coupling  $C_{\gamma Z}/\Lambda$ , and ALP mass  $m_a$ . Fig 18 presents the discoverable parameter space of the FD1, FD3, and FD6 in the  $C_{\gamma\gamma}/\Lambda$  vs  $C_{\gamma Z}/\Lambda$  plane for various ALP mass values when both  $C_{\gamma Z}$  and  $C_{\gamma\gamma}$  can freely change. Results for  $C_{\gamma Z} = 0$  and  $C_{\gamma Z} = C_{\gamma\gamma}$  cases and more details can be found in Ref. [198].

#### E. A couple more examples of exotics

There are more scenarios in which the new physics couples to the SM electroweak bosons. The search for such new physics can benefit from the high luminosity at CEPC's Z-pole and Higgs factory runs. Precision measurement on Z, h width and decay products offer powerful



FIG. 18. Reaches for ALPs of far detectors with  $m_a = 10$  GeV (solid line), 40 GeV (dotted line), and 90 GeV (dashed line) [198].

test of exotic processes, including but not limited to lepton number/flavor violation, sterile states, axion-like particles. Low hadronic activity level at the CEPC avoids major ISR contamination and offers high identification rate to signals that typically contain comparably soft leptons, photons and jets.

#### 1. Heavy neutrinos

Motivated by explaining the neutrino mass, testing the seesaw mechanism [201–205] includes the search of heavy neutrinos at colliders. In models with massive right-handed neutrino(s), the tiny mass of the active neutrino  $\nu$  is generated by mixing the SM lefthanded neutrino ( $\nu_L$ ) with massive hypothetical  $N_R$ , resulting in a heavy mass eigenstate N that has a small SM  $\nu_L$  component whiling giving  $\nu$  a small mass. The heavy N talks to SM model gauge bosons via its weakly charged  $\nu_L$  component [206] and has been extensively studied at colliders such as the LHC [207–212] using production channels via its weak coupling to SM bosons, or new physics interactions in models with a more extended interaction sector. Massive neutrinos' weak production its proportional to their  $\nu_L$  mixing, typically suppressed as  $|V_{lN}| \sim \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{m_{\nu}/m_N})$  in vanilla Type-I like scenarios, while larger mixings are also possible [213]. A complementary N production channel at the weak scale is via the Higgs boson, where N couples to BSM scalars that mix with the Higgs, and N acquires an

SM $\ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm}$		Pre-cut	$N_{\ell}$ and SS dilepton	Jet counting	Missing $E_{\rm T}$
	$4\tau$	$1.69 \times 10^4$	870	$4.6\times 10^{-2}$	$7.7 \times 10^{-3}$
	$2\tau Z$	$6.80 \times 10^5$	$2.91 \times 10^3$	4.6	0.93
	$2\ell Z$	$1.74\times10^{6}$	$3.98 \times 10^3$	-	-
ות	$4\tau Z$	93.0	2.0	0.19	$5.9\times10^{-2}$
BKg.	$2\tau 2W$	$4.42  imes 10^3$	63.6	0.92	$8.2\times 10^{-2}$
	$2\ell 2\tau Z$	584	13.8	2.0	0.75
	$4\ell Z$	862	16.5	2.2	2.1
	$2\ell 2W$	$2.74 \times 10^4$	639	11.7	1.2

hNN coupling which is not suppressed by the smallness of active neutrino mass. For recent theory reviews, see [214, 215] and references therein.

TABLE VI. Cut flow table the event numbers of the SM processes in the  $\ell^{\pm}\ell^{\pm}$  channel at  $\sqrt{s} = 240$  GeV and 5.6 ab<sup>-1</sup> integrated luminosity. Selection cuts on the flavor, sign and number of the leptons, and the number of jets are efficient in removing background. Adapted from [216].

CEPC can search for heavy N within the kinematical reach of the center of mass energy. There have been studies on the weak single N production at CEPC in the process  $e^-e^+ \rightarrow \nu N$  for center-of-mass energy  $\sqrt{s} = 240$  GeV [217], and on high luminosity Z-pole running mode [218, 219]. As N has a large Majorana mass, lepton number violation occurs in N decay. Same-sign, same flavor dileptons, and a reconstructable N mass peak of final state lepton-jet system are the 'smoking gun' signals [220] for heavy N search. CEPC is designed to yield ~4M Higgs events. The high identification efficiency for soft leptons and low hadronic background at the CEPC offers a clean search opportunity for  $h \rightarrow NN$ . The dominant Higgs production channel at CEPC is  $e^+e^- \rightarrow Zh$ . The associated Z complicates the signal and background analysis, as the Z boson's decay products can be confused with those from heavy N decay. On the other hand, with an extra Z boson, the SM backgrounds can also be suppressed by requiring one more weak vertex. The leading SM backgrounds are from multi-tau production with one or two associated weak vector bosons (V = W, Z), e.g.  $4\tau, 4\tau V, 2\tau 2\ell V$ , etc., in which non-isolated and missing leptons can lead to same-sign same-flavor lepton pairs.

SM background analysis of the *n*-lepton  $(n \ge 2)$  channels with at least one set of same-



FIG. 19. The projected CEPC sensitivities,  $2\sigma$  (solid) and  $5\sigma$  (dashed), to the decay branching ratio of  $h \to NN$  for 2-4 $\ell$  channels. Sensitivities at 240 GeV and 5.6 ab<sup>-1</sup> are comparable to HL-LHC projections [221]. Figure adapted from [216].

sign dileptons [216] shows that the semileptonic heavy N decay, requiring only one same-sign lepton pair, gives higher sensitivity than fully leptonic N decay channels. Jet and lepton number counting plays an essential role (see Table VI) in removing the SM background contamination. Leptonic decay of the associated Z boson also leads to a same-sign sameflavor trilepton signal. For CEPC 240 GeV @ 5.6 ab<sup>-1</sup> luminosity, multi-lepton rare decay search for  $h \rightarrow NN$  will be sensitive to Higgs-BSM scalar mixing angle up to around  $|\sin \alpha|^2 \leq 10^{-4}$ . The reaches on multi-lepton Higgs rare decay branching ratios are shown in Fig. 19.

#### 2. Axion-like particles

To solve "strong-CP" problem, one solution is called Peccei-Quinn mechanism proposed by Peccei and Quinn, which predicts the existence of QCD axion [222–224]. The axionlike particle (ALP) is a generalization of the QCD axion, which is predicted by new physics models with the breaking of a global U(1) symmetry [225–228]. The prospects for discovering ALPs via a light-by-light (LBL) scattering at two colliders, the future circular collider (FCCee) and circular electron-positron collider (CEPC), have been investigated. The promising sensitivities to the effective ALP-photon coupling  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  are obtained. The study shows that the FCC-ee and CEPC can be more sensitive to the ALPs with mass 2 GeV - 10 GeV than

# VI. DETECTOR REQUIREMENTS AND R&D ACTIVITIES

The CEPC is a multi-purpose, large collider facility. It has a highest physics event rate of the order of  $10^5$  Hz and is expected to be operated for decades. It is very challenging to maintain and monitor the stability of the detector system for such a long time. Similar long-term difficulties arise in beam energy calibration and luminosity measurements.

The extremely high statistics of physics events and rich physics objectives at the CEPC impose stringent and multi-fold physics requirements for its detector system. The CEPC detector shall have a very compact machine detector interface, because the final focus system at the circular collider requires its last quadrupole magnet to be placed close enough to the interaction point. The CEPC detector shall also provide large solid angle coverage, high accuracies on final state particle energy and momentum measurements, highly efficient reconstruction of secondary vertexes, and excellent reconstruction on the jet: its energy, momentum, flavor type, and Charge. The CEPC detector designs are based on the strict performance criteria required to offer a precision physics program that tests the Standard Model and explores new physics over a wide range of center-of-mass energies and luminosities.

A primary requirement for the CEPC detector is to efficiently reconstruct individual final state particles, especially those from hadronically decayed W, Z, and Higgs bosons.

The efficient reconstruction of individual final state particles provides a solid basis for a high efficiency-purity identification and reconstruction of all physics objects. These physics objects include single particle physics object like leptons and photons, and composite physics objects such as  $\pi_0$ ,  $\Lambda$ ,  $K_S^0$ ,  $\tau$  lepton, and jets.

The efficient reconstruction of individual final state particles could also significantly improve the accuracy of energy and momentum measurements of composite physics objects: once individual final state particles are identified, their energy and momentum could be measured in the optimal sub-detector systems.

The identification of signal event, and the consequent accuracy of the corresponding physics measurements, strongly rely on the identification and reconstruction of the key physics objects, as well as on the accuracies of their energy/momentum reconstruction. Therefore, the efficient reconstruction of individual final state particle becomes a critical requirement for the CEPC detector.

On top of the efficient reconstruction of individual final state particle, we would like to emphasize two sets of physics requirements.

The first set of requirements aims at a successful program of flavor physics measurements. Being a Tera-Z factory, the CEPC can perform multiple flavor physics measurements at its Z pole operation, including the time-dependent CKM measurement, the rare decays, search for lepton flavor violation signal, and test of the lepton flavor universality, etc. Many measurements need to identify the objective heavy hadrons in  $Z \rightarrow q\bar{q}$  events, while these objective hadrons decay rapidly inside the fiducial volume of the detector. Therefore, it is critical to identify the objective heavy hadron decay final state – from all the surrounding final state particles in the same jet.

Clearly, these physics measurements appreciate an efficient reconstruction of individual final state particles. A precise reconstruction of the energy-momentum of these individual final state particles can also significantly boost the signal-to-noise ratio in relevant physics measurements. An highly efficient reconstruction of the jet flavor type (from what type of quark or gluon the jet actually originates from) could also strongly suppress the background. In addition, multiple time-dependent CKM measurements requires a highly efficient determination of the jet charge.

A precise identification of the particle type, especially the identification of charged kaons, is critical to reduce the combinatorial background. Looking into the benchmark reconstruction performance of  $K^{\pm}$ ,  $\phi$ ,  $\Lambda$ , and b- or c- hadrons decaying into the final state with charged kaons, we believe that the CEPC detector shall provide a pion-kaon separation better than 3- $\sigma$ . Note that a decent PID not only benefits the flavor measurements at the Z pole, but can also enhance the performance of jet flavor tagging and jet charge measurements.

The second set of requirements aims to maximize the scientific output from physics measurements with hadronic final states. The CEPC is a high-yield heavy Standard Model particle factory. The majority of W, Z, and Higgs bosons decay into hadronic final states, 97% of the Higgs events at CEPC decay into hadronic or semi-leptonic final states. Because the electron-positron collider is free of QCD background, the physics measurements with hadronic final states are strong comparative advantages of the electron-positron collider compared to the hadron collider, especially those to reveal the coupling behaviors between the Higgs boson and its hadronic decay final states. The reconstruction performance of the hadronic final state can be characterized by Boson Mass Resolution (BMR), which is defined as the relevant mass resolution of the hadronic system, especially the hadronically decayed Higgs boson.

For a ZH event decaying into semi-leptonic final state, the identification of its hadronic system can be straightforward. Meanwhile, the semi-leptonic ZZ events can be the irreducible background for the ZH signal, for example, the  $qqH, H \rightarrow invisible$  signal versus the  $ZZ \rightarrow \nu$  background, and the  $qqH, H \rightarrow \tau\tau$  signal versus the  $ZZ \rightarrow qq\tau\tau$  background. For these measurements, the recoil mass of the hadronic system can be used to distinguish the ZH signal from the ZZ background. Quantitative analyses show that a BMR better than 4% is therefore required [3]. A detector that provides a BMR better than 4% can also separate the hadronically decayed W, Z, and Higgs bosons through their invariant mass distribution. The CEPC can perform intensive flavor physics measurements with neutrino final states. These measurement will certainly benefit from the decent BMR performance.

From the view point of sub-detectors, the CEPC detectors must be able to discriminate *b*jets, *c*-jets, and light jets from each other in order to quantify the coupling of the Higgs boson to the charm quark, which relies on the high-accuracy, high-efficiency, and low-material vertex detector placed close enough to the interaction point. For the tracking system, per mille level relative precision on track momentum resolution is essential to obtain decent sensitivity for the  $H \rightarrow \mu^+\mu^-$  measurement, and is highly appreciated for multiple flavor physics measurements at the Z pole. A good ECAL energy resolution is beneficial to the  $H \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$  measurement, as well as multiple flavor measurements with photon or  $\pi_0$  in the final state. The measurement of inclusive Higgsstrahlung cross section from  $Z(\rightarrow q\bar{q})H$ events requires not only an excellent reconstruction of the hadronic system, but also a clear identification of the hadronically decayed Z boson. Hunting for the dark matter via the Higgs invisible decay requires a good reconstruction of the missing energy and momentum. The latter two drive actually the performance requirements on the BMR, and the identification of Color Singlet in full hadronic physics events.

To fulfill these physics requirements, multiple detector concepts are proposed, and an intensive R&D program on several sub-detector systems has been performed [3]. At the CEPC CDR, two basic detector designs are investigated: a baseline detector concept with two approaches of tracking systems and an alternative detector concept to meet the require-

ment on jet energy resolution (which is highly correlated with BMR). The baseline detector design combines the particle flow principle with a precision vertex detector, a time projection chamber, a silicon tracker, a 3-Tesla solenoid, a high granularity calorimeter, and a muon detector. A full silicon tracker is also an option for the baseline detector concept. Another detector design is based on the dual-readout calorimetry and consists of a precision vertex detector, a drift chamber tracker, a 2-Tesla solenoid, and a muon detector. The various technologies for each detector subsystem are being actively explored through R&D projects.

Recently, a progressive new detector concept has been proposed and is under development and exploration [230]. The new concept has a very thin beam pipe with a small radius and a novel cooling system design. It also integrates several cutting-edge technologies, *e.g.*, a silicon tracker with the HV-COMS technique, a wire chamber optimized for PID and TOF resolution. A transverse crystal bar ECAL will provide high angular and energy resolution. The detector concept will also adopt a thin superconducting magnet to reduce the overall material budget. As a result, the proposed design shall satisfy the requirements of Higgs, EW, flavor, and BSM physics studies. The layout of the new detector design is shown in Fig 20.



FIG. 20. Layout of the new conceptual detector.

# VII. MESSAGE TO THE SNOWMASS

Since completing the CEPC CDR, the CEPC study group has made significant progress on the CEPC accelerator design and key technology R&D. Those collective activities have converged into a new set of nominal beam parameters and operation scenarios. Compared to the CDR, the particle yields of the CEPC increase significantly and should be taken into account for the physics potential evaluation.

Historically, precision measurements have been a great way of making progress in particle physics, having solved some of its most important questions. The CEPC project has the potential to characterize the Higgs boson in the same way LEP did to the Z boson and search for possible deviations from the Standard Model. It can also make EW, flavor physics, and QCD measurements unprecedented precision and many unique approaches to searching for new physics signals. Given such a comprehensive physics program, the CEPC will significantly enhance our knowledge of many aspects of the physics around the TeV scale, with a great prospect of finding new physics principles underlying the SM.

The CEPC project fits well in the strategy of the international particle physics community. We would like to seek support from Snowmass 2021 for active research programs in the US and worldwide and work towards the realization of the CEPC or at least one electronpositron Higgs factory in the future.

- M. Ahmad *et al.*, "CEPC-SPPC Preliminary Conceptual Design Report. 1. Physics and Detector," 3, 2015. IHEP-CEPC-DR-2015-01, IHEP-TH-2015-01, IHEP-EP-2015-01.
- [2] "CEPC-SPPC Preliminary Conceptual Design Report. 2. Accelerator," 1, 2015.
   IHEP-CEPC-DR-2015-01, IHEP-AC-2015-01.
- [3] CEPC Study Group Collaboration, M. Dong et al., "CEPC Conceptual Design Report: Volume 2 - Physics & Detector," arXiv:1811.10545 [hep-ex].
- [4] ILC International Development Team Collaboration, I. Adachi et al., "The International Linear Collider: Report to Snowmass 2021," arXiv:2203.07622
   [physics.acc-ph].
- [5] CLIC Collaboration, J. de Blas et al., "The CLIC Potential for New Physics," arXiv:1812.02093 [hep-ph].

- [6] FCC Collaboration, A. Abada *et al.*, "FCC-ee: The Lepton Collider: Future Circular Collider Conceptual Design Report Volume 2," *Eur. Phys. J. ST* 228 no. 2, (2019) 261–623.
- [7] J. de Blas, J. Gu, and Z. Liu, "Higgs Precision at a 125 GeV Muon Collider," arXiv:2203.04324 [hep-ph].
- [8] M. Bai et al., "C<sup>3</sup>: A "Cool" Route to the Higgs Boson and Beyond," in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study. 10, 2021. arXiv:2110.15800 [hep-ex].
- [9] V. N. Litvinenko, N. Bachhawat, M. Chamizo-Llatas, Y. Jing, F. Méot, I. Petrushina, and T. Roser, "The ReLiC: Recycling Linear e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> Collider," arXiv:2203.06476 [hep-ex].
- [10] V. N. Litvinenko, N. Bachhawat, M. Chamizo-Llatas, F. Meot, and T. Roser, "CERC -Circular e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> Collider using Energy-Recovery Linac," in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study.
  3, 2022. arXiv:2203.07358 [physics.acc-ph].
- [11] J. Tang, Y. Zhang, Q. Xu, J. Gao, X. Lou, and Y. Wang, "Snowmass 2021 White Paper AF4 - SPPC," in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study. 3, 2022. arXiv:2203.07987 [hep-ex].
- [12] CEPC Accelerator Study Group Collaboration, J. Gao, "Snowmass2021 White Paper AF3-CEPC," arXiv:2203.09451 [physics.acc-ph].
- [13] "The european strategy for particle physics." https://europeanstrategy.cern/home.
- [14] e. a. Fenfen An, "Precision higgs physics at the CEPC," *Chinese Physics C* 43 no. 4, (Apr, 2019) 043002. https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1674-1137%2F43%2F4%2F043002.
- [15] Z. Chen, Y. Yang, M. Ruan, D. Wang, G. Li, S. Jin, and Y. Ban, "Cross Section and Higgs Mass Measurement with Higgsstrahlung at the CEPC," *Chin. Phys. C* 41 no. 2, (2017) 023003, arXiv:1601.05352 [hep-ex].
- [16] D. Yu, M. Ruan, V. Boudry, H. Videau, and J.-C. Brient, "Higgs to  $\tau\tau$  analysis in the future  $e^+e^-$  Higgs factories," arXiv:1903.12327 [hep-ex].
- [17] Y. Bai, C. Chen, Y. Fang, G. Li, M. Ruan, J.-Y. Shi, B. Wang, P.-Y. Kong, B.-Y. Lan, and Z.-F. Liu, "Measurements of decay branching fractions of H → bb/cc̄/gg in associated (e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup>/μ<sup>+</sup>μ<sup>-</sup>)H production at the CEPC," Chin. Phys. C 44 no. 1, (2020) 013001, arXiv:1905.12903 [hep-ex].
- [18] R. Kiuchi, Y. Gu, M. Zhong, L. Kong, A. Schuy, S.-C. Hsu, X. Shi, and K. Zhang, "Physics potential for the H→ ZZ\* decay at the CEPC," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81 no. 10, (2021) 879, arXiv:2103.09633 [hep-ex].
- [19] Y. Tan, X. Shi, R. Kiuchi, M. Ruan, M. Jing, D. Yu, K. Zhang, X. Lou, X. Mo, G. Li, and

S. Jyotishmati, "Search for invisible decays of the higgs boson produced at the CEPC," *Chinese Physics C* 44 no. 12, (Dec, 2020) 123001. https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1674-1137%2Fabb4d8.

- [20] Y. Zhu, H. Cui, and M. Ruan, "The  $Higgs \rightarrow b\bar{b}, c\bar{c}, gg$  measurement at CEPC," arXiv:2203.01469 [hep-ex].
- [21] G. LI, L. Liao, X. Lou, P. Shen, W. Song, S. Wang, and Z. Zhang, "Classify the Higgs decays with the PFN and ParticleNet at electron-positron colliders," arXiv:2105.14997 [hep-ex].
- [22] The precision of the Higgs width is extracted from the  $\kappa$ -fit of all Higgs measurements described in section III B.
- [23] M. Ahmad *et al.*, "CEPC-SPPC Preliminary Conceptual Design Report, Volume I: Physics and Detector." http://cepc.ihep.ac.cn/preCDR/volume.html, 2015.
- [24] F. An et al., "Precision Higgs physics at the CEPC," Chin. Phys. C 43 no. 4, (2019)
   043002, arXiv:1810.09037 [hep-ex].
- [25] J. de Blas et al., "Higgs Boson Studies at Future Particle Colliders," JHEP 01 (2020) 139, arXiv:1905.03764 [hep-ph].
- [26] M. E. Peskin, "Comparison of LHC and ILC Capabilities for Higgs Boson Coupling Measurements," arXiv:1207.2516 [hep-ph].
- [27] T. Han, Z. Liu, and J. Sayre, "Potential Precision on Higgs Couplings and Total Width at the ILC," *Phys. Rev. D* 89 no. 11, (2014) 113006, arXiv:1311.7155 [hep-ph].
- [28] S. Dawson et al., "Working Group Report: Higgs Boson," in Proceedings, 2013 Community Summer Study on the Future of U.S. Particle Physics: Snowmass on the Mississippi (CSS2013): Minneapolis, MN, USA, July 29-August 6, 2013. 2013. arXiv:1310.8361
   [hep-ex]. http://inspirehep.net/record/1262795/files/arXiv:1310.8361.pdf.
- [29] T. Han, Z. Liu, Z. Qian, and J. Sayre, "Improving Higgs Coupling Measurements Through ZZ Fusion at the ILC," *Phys. Rev. D* 91 (2015) 113007, arXiv:1504.01399 [hep-ph].
- [30] Other means of lineshape scan is also possible but often requires very precise beam and high luminosity [7, 231–233], in particular, for  $e^+e^-$  machines [232, 233].
- [31] M. Cepeda et al., Report from Working Group 2: Higgs Physics at the HL-LHC and HE-LHC, vol. 7, pp. 221-584. 12, 2019. arXiv:1902.00134 [hep-ph].
- [32] T. Barklow, K. Fujii, S. Jung, R. Karl, J. List, T. Ogawa, M. E. Peskin, and J. Tian,

"Improved Formalism for Precision Higgs Coupling Fits," *Phys. Rev. D* **97** no. 5, (2018) 053003, arXiv:1708.08912 [hep-ph].

- [33] The only exception is the  $ht\bar{t}$  coupling which can be simply defined as the effective Yukawa coupling.
- [34] J. de Blas, G. Durieux, C. Grojean, J. Gu, and A. Paul, "On the future of Higgs, electroweak and diboson measurements at lepton colliders," *JHEP* 12 (2019) 117, arXiv:1907.04311 [hep-ph].
- [35] Q. Sha, A. Fadol, F. Guo, G. Li, J. Gu, X. Lou, and Y. Fang, "Probing higgs cp properties at the cepc," arXiv:2203.11707 [hep-ex].
- [36] M. Davier, L. Duflot, F. Le Diberder, and A. Rouge, "The Optimal method for the measurement of tau polarization," *Phys. Lett. B* 306 (1993) 411–417.
- [37] ALEPH, DELPHI, L3, OPAL, SLD, LEP Electroweak Working Group, SLD Electroweak Group, SLD Heavy Flavour Group Collaboration, S. Schael et al., "Precision electroweak measurements on the Z resonance," Phys. Rept. 427 (2006) 257-454, arXiv:hep-ex/0509008 [hep-ex].
- [38] OPAL Collaboration, G. Abbiendi *et al.*, "Precise determination of the Z resonance parameters at LEP: 'Zedometry'," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 19 (2001) 587–651, arXiv:hep-ex/0012018.
- [39] DELPHI Collaboration, P. Abreu *et al.*, "Cross-sections and leptonic forward backward asymmetries from the Z0 running of LEP," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 16 (2000) 371–405.
- [40] L3 Collaboration, M. Acciarri et al., "Measurements of cross-sections and forward backward asymmetries at the Z resonance and determination of electroweak parameters," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 16 (2000) 1–40, arXiv:hep-ex/0002046.
- [41] ALEPH Collaboration, R. Barate *et al.*, "Measurement of the Z resonance parameters at LEP," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 14 (2000) 1–50.
- [42] CDF Collaboration, T. Aaltonen *et al.*, "High-precision measurement of the W boson mass with the CDF II detector," *Science* **376** no. 6589, (2022) 170–176.
- [43] ATLAS Collaboration, M. Aaboud *et al.*, "Measurement of the W-boson mass in pp collisions at √s = 7 TeV with the ATLAS detector," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 78 no. 2, (2018) 110, arXiv:1701.07240 [hep-ex]. [Erratum: Eur.Phys.J.C 78, 898 (2018)].
- [44] **D0** Collaboration, V. M. Abazov *et al.*, "Measurement of the W boson mass with the D0

detector," Phys. Rev. D 89 no. 1, (2014) 012005, arXiv:1310.8628 [hep-ex].

- [45] CDF Collaboration, T. Aaltonen *et al.*, "Precise measurement of the W-boson mass with the CDF II detector," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **108** (2012) 151803, arXiv:1203.0275 [hep-ex].
- [46] ALEPH, DELPHI, L3, OPAL, LEP Electroweak Collaboration, S. Schael et al.,
   "Electroweak Measurements in Electron-Positron Collisions at W-Boson-Pair Energies at LEP," Phys. Rept. 532 (2013) 119-244, arXiv:1302.3415 [hep-ex].
- [47] D0 Collaboration, V. M. Abazov et al., "Direct measurement of the W boson width," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 103 (2009) 231802, arXiv:0909.4814 [hep-ex].
- [48] **CDF** Collaboration, T. Aaltonen *et al.*, "A Direct measurement of the W boson width in  $p\bar{p}$  collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 1.96$ -TeV," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **100** (2008) 071801, arXiv:0710.4112 [hep-ex].
- [49] Tevatron Electroweak Working Group Collaboration, "Combination of CDF and D0 Results on the Width of the W boson," arXiv:1003.2826 [hep-ex].
- [50] ATLAS, CDF, CMS, D0 Collaboration, "First combination of Tevatron and LHC measurements of the top-quark mass," arXiv:1403.4427 [hep-ex].
- [51] ALEPH Collaboration, A. Heister *et al.*, "Measurement of the tau polarization at LEP," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 20 (2001) 401–430, arXiv:hep-ex/0104038.
- [52] DELPHI Collaboration, P. Abreu *et al.*, "A Precise measurement of the tau polarization at LEP-1," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 14 (2000) 585–611.
- [53] SLD Collaboration, K. Abe *et al.*, "An Improved direct measurement of leptonic coupling asymmetries with polarized Z bosons," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 86 (2001) 1162–1166, arXiv:hep-ex/0010015.
- [54] OPAL Collaboration, G. Abbiendi *et al.*, "Precision neutral current asymmetry parameter measurements from the tau polarization at LEP," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 21 (2001) 1–21, arXiv:hep-ex/0103045.
- [55] L3 Collaboration, M. Acciarri *et al.*, "Measurement of tau polarization at LEP," *Phys. Lett. B* 429 (1998) 387–398.
- [56] SLD Collaboration, K. Abe et al., "Direct measurements of A(b) and A(c) using vertex/kaon charge tags at SLD," Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 091801, arXiv:hep-ex/0410042.
- [57] **SLD** Collaboration, K. Abe *et al.*, "Measurement of the branching ratio of the Z0 into

heavy quarks," Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 112004, arXiv:hep-ex/0503005.

- [58] L3 Collaboration, M. Acciarri *et al.*, "Measurement of R(b) and  $Br(b \rightarrow lepton neutrino X)$  at LEP using double tag methods," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 13 (2000) 47–61, arXiv:hep-ex/9909045.
- [59] OPAL Collaboration, G. Abbiendi et al., "A Measurement of R(b) using a double tagging method," Eur. Phys. J. C 8 (1999) 217–239, arXiv:hep-ex/9810002.
- [60] DELPHI Collaboration, P. Abreu *et al.*, "A Precise measurement of the partial decay width ratio R(b)\*\*0 = Gamma(b anti-b) / Gamma(had)," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 10 (1999) 415–442.
- [61] ALEPH Collaboration, R. Barate *et al.*, "A Measurement of R(b) using mutually exclusive tags," *Phys. Lett. B* 401 (1997) 163–175.
- [62] DELPHI Collaboration, P. Abreu *et al.*, "Measurements of the Z partial decay width into c anti-c and multiplicity of charm quarks per b decay," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 12 (2000) 225–241.
- [63] ALEPH Collaboration, R. Barate et al., "Study of charm production in Z decays," Eur. Phys. J. C 16 (2000) 597-611, arXiv:hep-ex/9909032.
- [64] OPAL Collaboration, K. Ackerstaff et al., "Measurement of f(c -> D\*+ X), f(b -> D\*+ X) and Gamma (c anti-c) / Gamma (hadronic) using D\*+- mesons," Eur. Phys. J. C 1 (1998) 439-459, arXiv:hep-ex/9708021.
- [65] OPAL Collaboration, G. Alexander *et al.*, "A Study of charm hadron production in Z0 —> c anti-c and Z0 —> b anti-b decays at LEP," Z. Phys. C 72 (1996) 1–16.
- [66] P. Janot and S. Jadach, "Improved Bhabha cross section at LEP and the number of light neutrino species," *Phys. Lett. B* 803 (2020) 135319, arXiv:1912.02067 [hep-ph].
- [67] M. Koratzinos, A. Blondel, E. Gianfelice-Wendt, and F. Zimmermann, "FCC-ee: Energy Calibration," in 6th International Particle Accelerator Conference, p. TUPTY063. 2015. arXiv:1506.00933 [physics.acc-ph].
- [68] L. Arnaudon *et al.*, "Accurate determination of the LEP beam energy by resonant depolarization," Z. Phys. C 66 (1995) 45–62.
- [69] R. Assmann *et al.*, "Calibration of center-of-mass energies at LEP-1 for precise measurements of Z properties," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 6 (1999) 187–223.
- [70] P. X. Shen *et al.*, "Data-taking strategy for the precise measurement of the W boson mass with a threshold scan at circular electron positron colliders," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 80 no. 1,

(2020) 66, arXiv:1812.09855 [hep-ex].

- [71] M. Si et al., "High energy beam energy measurement with microwave-electron Compton backscattering," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 1026 (2022) 166216, arXiv:2108.09707
   [hep-ex].
- [72] G. Tang *et al.*, "The circular electron–positron collider beam energy measurement with Compton scattering and beam tracking method," *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **91** no. 3, (2020) 033109.
- [73] Here we do not consider the contributions to the W branching ratios, which only modify the rates and can be separated from the contributions to the WW production.
- [74] M. Diehl and O. Nachtmann, "Optimal observables for the measurement of three gauge boson couplings in e+ e- -> W+ W-," Z. Phys. C 62 (1994) 397–412.
- [75] W. Buchmuller and D. Wyler, "Effective Lagrangian Analysis of New Interactions and Flavor Conservation," Nucl. Phys. B268 (1986) 621–653.
- [76] B. Grzadkowski, M. Iskrzynski, M. Misiak, and J. Rosiek, "Dimension-Six Terms in the Standard Model Lagrangian," JHEP 10 (2010) 085, arXiv:1008.4884 [hep-ph].
- [77] A. Falkowski, M. Gonzalez-Alonso, A. Greljo, and D. Marzocca, "Global constraints on anomalous triple gauge couplings in effective field theory approach," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116 no. 1, (2016) 011801, arXiv:1508.00581 [hep-ph].
- [78] J. Ellis, C. W. Murphy, V. Sanz, and T. You, "Updated Global SMEFT Fit to Higgs, Diboson and Electroweak Data," JHEP 06 (2018) 146, arXiv:1803.03252 [hep-ph].
- [79] S. Dawson, S. Homiller, and S. D. Lane, "Putting standard model EFT fits to work," *Phys. Rev. D* 102 no. 5, (2020) 055012, arXiv:2007.01296 [hep-ph].
- [80] J. Ellis, M. Madigan, K. Mimasu, V. Sanz, and T. You, "Top, Higgs, Diboson and Electroweak Fit to the Standard Model Effective Field Theory," JHEP 04 (2021) 279, arXiv:2012.02779 [hep-ph].
- [81] SMEFIT Collaboration, J. J. Ethier, G. Magni, F. Maltoni, L. Mantani, E. R. Nocera, J. Rojo, E. Slade, E. Vryonidou, and C. Zhang, "Combined SMEFT interpretation of Higgs, diboson, and top quark data from the LHC," JHEP 11 (2021) 089, arXiv:2105.00006 [hep-ph].
- [82] E. d. S. Almeida, A. Alves, O. J. P. Éboli, and M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, "Electroweak legacy of the LHC Run II," arXiv:2108.04828 [hep-ph].

- [83] Note that the bound on the Higgs width is a derived quantity and is not used here as a measurement input.
- [84] C. Grojean, M. Montull, and M. Riembau, "Diboson at the LHC vs LEP," JHEP 03 (2019)
   020, arXiv:1810.05149 [hep-ph].
- [85] X.-C. Zheng, C.-H. Chang, T.-F. Feng, and X.-G. Wu, "QCD NLO fragmentation functions for c or b<sup>-</sup> quark to Bc or Bc\* meson and their application," *Phys. Rev. D* 100 no. 3, (2019) 034004, arXiv:1901.03477 [hep-ph].
- [86] Q. Qin and F.-S. Yu, "Discovery potentials of double-charm tetraquarks," arXiv:2008.08026 [hep-ph].
- [87] R. Aleksan, L. Oliver, and E. Perez, "CP violation and determination of the bs "flat" unitarity triangle at FCCee," arXiv:2107.02002 [hep-ph].
- [88] M. Zhao, "The talk at FPCP 2020: Feasibility study of CP-violating Phase  $\phi_s$ measurement via  $B_s \beta J/\psi \phi$  channel at CEPC." 2021.
- [89] R. Aleksan, L. Oliver, and E. Perez, "Study of CP violation in  $B^{\pm}$  decays to  $\overline{D^0}(D^0)K^{\pm}$  at FCCee," arXiv:2107.05311 [hep-ph].
- [90] Y. Wang, "The talk at the 2021 Internal CEPC Workshop: Physics analyses and detector requirement study from Benchmark study of  $B^0/B_s \rightarrow 2\pi^0$ ." 2021.
- [91] Belle-II Collaboration, W. Altmannshofer *et al.*, "The Belle II Physics Book," *PTEP*2019 no. 12, (2019) 123C01, arXiv:1808.10567 [hep-ex]. [Erratum: PTEP 2020, 029201 (2020)].
- [92] J. Charles, S. Descotes-Genon, Z. Ligeti, S. Monteil, M. Papucci, K. Trabelsi, and
  L. Vale Silva, "New physics in B meson mixing: future sensitivity and limitations," *Phys. Rev. D* 102 no. 5, (2020) 056023, arXiv:2006.04824 [hep-ph].
- [93] F. Bedeschi, L. Gouskos, and M. Selvaggi, "Jet Flavour Tagging for Future Colliders with Fast Simulation," arXiv:2202.03285 [hep-ex].
- [94] FCC Collaboration, A. Abada *et al.*, "FCC Physics Opportunities: Future Circular Collider Conceptual Design Report Volume 1," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 79 no. 6, (2019) 474.
- [95] A. Azatov, D. Bardhan, D. Ghosh, F. Sgarlata, and E. Venturini, "Anatomy of  $b \rightarrow c\tau\nu$  anomalies," *JHEP* **11** (2018) 187, arXiv:1805.03209 [hep-ph].
- [96] M. Bordone, G. Isidori, and A. Pattori, "On the Standard Model predictions for  $R_K$  and  $R_{K^*}$ ," *Eur. Phys. J. C* **76** no. 8, (2016) 440, arXiv:1605.07633 [hep-ph].

- [97] M. Algueró, B. Capdevila, A. Crivellin, S. Descotes-Genon, P. Masjuan, J. Matias,
  M. Novoa Brunet, and J. Virto, "Emerging patterns of New Physics with and without Lepton Flavour Universal contributions," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 79 no. 8, (2019) 714,
  arXiv:1903.09578 [hep-ph]. [Addendum: Eur.Phys.J.C 80, 511 (2020)].
- [98] A. J. Buras, J. Girrbach-Noe, C. Niehoff, and D. M. Straub, " $B \to K^{(*)} \nu \overline{\nu}$  decays in the Standard Model and beyond," *JHEP* 02 (2015) 184, arXiv:1409.4557 [hep-ph].
- [99] L. Calibbi, A. Crivellin, and T. Ota, "Effective Field Theory Approach to b → sℓℓ<sup>(')</sup>,
  B → K<sup>(\*)</sup>νν̄ and B → D<sup>(\*)</sup>τν with Third Generation Couplings," Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 181801, arXiv:1506.02661 [hep-ph].
- [100] I. de Medeiros Varzielas and G. Hiller, "Clues for flavor from rare lepton and quark decays," JHEP 06 (2015) 072, arXiv:1503.01084 [hep-ph].
- [101] B. Capdevila, A. Crivellin, S. Descotes-Genon, L. Hofer, and J. Matias, "Searching for New Physics with b → sτ<sup>+</sup>τ<sup>-</sup> processes," Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 no. 18, (2018) 181802,
  arXiv:1712.01919 [hep-ph].
- [102] M. Bordone, C. Cornella, J. Fuentes-Martín, and G. Isidori, "Low-energy signatures of the PS<sup>3</sup> model: from B-physics anomalies to LFV," JHEP 10 (2018) 148, arXiv:1805.09328
   [hep-ph].
- [103] T. Zheng, J. Xu, L. Cao, D. Yu, W. Wang, S. Prell, Y.-K. E. Cheung, and M. Ruan, "Analysis of  $B_c \rightarrow \tau \nu_{\tau}$  at CEPC," arXiv:2007.08234 [hep-ex].
- [104] Y. Amhis, C. Helsens, D. Hill, and O. Sumensari, "Prospects for  $B_c^+ \to \tau^+ \nu_{\tau}$  at FCC-ee," arXiv:2105.13330 [hep-ex].
- [105] A. Kwok, X. Jiang, L. Li, and T. Liu, "Tera-Z studies of semileptonic b decays (In preparation)." 2022.
- [106] L. Di Luzio and M. Nardecchia, "What is the scale of new physics behind the B-flavour anomalies?," Eur. Phys. J. C 77 no. 8, (2017) 536, arXiv:1706.01868 [hep-ph].
- [107] J. F. Kamenik, S. Monteil, A. Semkiv, and L. V. Silva, "Lepton polarization asymmetries in rare semi-tauonic b → s exclusive decays at FCC-ee," Eur. Phys. J. C77 no. 10, (2017) 701, arXiv:1705.11106 [hep-ph].
- [108] L. Li and T. Liu, " $b \to s\tau^+\tau^-$  Physics at Future Z Factories," arXiv:2012.00665 [hep-ph].
- [109] LHCb Collaboration, R. Aaij et al., "Physics case for an LHCb Upgrade II Opportunities

in flavour physics, and beyond, in the HL-LHC era," arXiv:1808.08865.

- [110] S. Monteil and G. Wilkinson, "Heavy-quark opportunities and challenges at FCC-ee," arXiv:2106.01259 [hep-ex].
- [111] L. Li, M. Ruan, Y. Wang, and Y. Wang, "The analysis of  $B_s \to \phi \nu \bar{\nu}$ ," arXiv:2201.07374 [hep-ph].
- [112] P. Colangelo, F. De Fazio, and W. Wang, "Nonleptonic B<sub>s</sub> to charmonium decays: analyses in pursuit of determining the weak phase β<sub>s</sub>," Phys. Rev. D83 (2011) 094027, arXiv:1009.4612 [hep-ph].
- [113] R. Bause, H. Gisbert, M. Golz, and G. Hiller, "Rare charm  $c \rightarrow u \nu \bar{\nu}$  dineutrino null tests for  $e^+e^-$  machines," *Phys. Rev. D* 103 no. 1, (2021) 015033, arXiv:2010.02225 [hep-ph].
- [114] X.-D. Shi, X.-R. Zhou, X.-S. Qin, and H.-P. Peng, "A fast simulation package for STCF detector," JINST 16 no. 03, (2021) P03029, arXiv:2011.01654 [physics.ins-det].
- [115] M. Dam, "Tau-lepton Physics at the FCC-ee circular e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> Collider," SciPost Phys. Proc. 1 (2019) 041, arXiv:1811.09408 [hep-ex].
- [116] Y. Grossman, M. König, and M. Neubert, "Exclusive Radiative Decays of W and Z Bosons in QCD Factorization," JHEP 04 (2015) 101, arXiv:1501.06569 [hep-ph].
- [117] M. Karliner, M. Low, J. L. Rosner, and L.-T. Wang, "Radiative return capabilities of a high-energy, high-luminosity e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> collider," *Phys. Rev. D* 92 no. 3, (2015) 035010, arXiv:1503.07209 [hep-ph].
- [118] L. Calibbi and G. Signorelli, "Charged Lepton Flavour Violation: An Experimental and Theoretical Introduction," *Riv. Nuovo Cim.* 41 no. 2, (2018) 71–174, arXiv:1709.00294
   [hep-ph].
- [119] Q. Qin, Q. Li, C.-D. Lü, F.-S. Yu, and S.-H. Zhou, "Charged lepton flavor violating Higgs decays at future e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 78 no. 10, (2018) 835, arXiv:1711.07243
  [hep-ph].
- [120] T. Li and M. A. Schmidt, "Sensitivity of future lepton colliders to the search for charged lepton flavor violation," *Phys. Rev.* D99 no. 5, (2019) 055038, arXiv:1809.07924 [hep-ph].
- [121] L. Calibbi, X. Marcano, and J. Roy, "Z lepton flavour violation as a probe for new physics at future e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81 no. 12, (2021) 1054, arXiv:2107.10273
  [hep-ph].

- [122] A. Pich, "Precision Tau Physics," Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 75 (2014) 41-85, arXiv:1310.7922 [hep-ph].
- [123] K. Yumino and D. Jeans, "Measuring the tau polarization at ILC," in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study. 3, 2022. arXiv:2203.07668 [hep-ex].
- [124] D. d'Enterria and H.-S. Shao, "Discovering true tauonium via two-photon fusion at  $e^+e^$ and hadron colliders," arXiv:2202.02316 [hep-ph].
- [125] Y. Grossman and Y. Nir, "CP Violation in  $\tau^{\pm} \to \pi^{\pm} K_S \nu$  and  $D^{\pm} \to \pi^{\pm} K_S$ : The Importance of  $K_S - K_L$  Interference," *JHEP* **04** (2012) 002, arXiv:1110.3790 [hep-ph].
- [126] Particle Data Group Collaboration, P. A. Zyla *et al.*, "Review of Particle Physics," *PTEP* 2020 no. 8, (2020) 083C01.
- [127] D. Yu, "The talk at the 2021 Internal CEPC Workshop: Lepton identification and backgrounds for flavor studies at the CEPC." 2021.
- [128] S. Cheng, Q. Qin, and F.-S. Yu, "Exclusive hadronic z decays." Private communication.
- [129] D. Yu, T. Zheng, and M. Ruan, "Lepton identification performance in Jets at a future electron positron Higgs Z factory," arXiv:2105.01246 [hep-ex].
- [130] Z. Liu, L.-T. Wang, and H. Zhang, "Exotic decays of the 125 GeV Higgs boson at future e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> lepton colliders," Chin. Phys. C 41 no. 6, (2017) 063102, arXiv:1612.09284
  [hep-ph].
- [131] D. Curtin *et al.*, "Exotic decays of the 125 GeV Higgs boson," *Phys. Rev.* D90 no. 7, (2014) 075004, arXiv:1312.4992 [hep-ph].
- [132] LHC Higgs Cross Section Working Group Collaboration, D. de Florian et al.,
   "Handbook of LHC Higgs Cross Sections: 4. Deciphering the Nature of the Higgs Sector,"
   arXiv:1610.07922 [hep-ph].
- [133] M. Cepeda, S. Gori, V. M. Outschoorn, and J. Shelton, "Exotic Higgs Decays," arXiv:2111.12751 [hep-ph].
- [134] J. Shelton and D. Xu, "Exotic Higgs Decays to Four Taus at Future Electron-Positron Colliders," 10, 2021. arXiv:2110.13225 [hep-ph].
- [135] Y. Kato, "Search for higgs decaying to exotic scalers at the ilc." Presentation at the 2021 international workshop on the high energy circular electron-positron collider (cepc), nov. 8-12, 2021, https://indico.ihep.ac.cn/event/14938.
- [136] M. Carena, Z. Liu, and Y. Wang, "Electroweak phase transition with spontaneous

Z<sub>2</sub>-breaking," JHEP 08 (2020) 107, arXiv:1911.10206 [hep-ph].

- [137] J. Kozaczuk, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, and J. Shelton, "Exotic Higgs boson decays and the electroweak phase transition," *Phys. Rev. D* 101 no. 11, (2020) 115035, arXiv:1911.10210 [hep-ph].
- [138] S. Alipour-Fard, N. Craig, S. Gori, S. Koren, and D. Redigolo, "The second Higgs at the lifetime frontier," JHEP 07 (2020) 029, arXiv:1812.09315 [hep-ph].
- [139] These can be bosons or be fermions, for example, composite neutrinos [234].
- [140] N. Craig, A. Katz, M. Strassler, and R. Sundrum, "Naturalness in the Dark at the LHC," JHEP 07 (2015) 105, arXiv:1501.05310 [hep-ph].
- [141] D. Curtin and C. B. Verhaaren, "Discovering Uncolored Naturalness in Exotic Higgs Decays," JHEP 12 (2015) 072, arXiv:1506.06141 [hep-ph].
- [142] J. Liu, Z. Liu, and L.-T. Wang, "Enhancing Long-Lived Particles Searches at the LHC with Precision Timing Information," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 122 no. 13, (2019) 131801, arXiv:1805.05957 [hep-ph].
- [143] J. Liu, Z. Liu, L.-T. Wang, and X.-P. Wang, "Enhancing Sensitivities to Long-lived Particles with High Granularity Calorimeters at the LHC," JHEP 11 (2020) 066, arXiv:2005.10836 [hep-ph].
- [144] M. Carena, J. Kozaczuk, Z. Liu, T. Ou, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, J. Shelton, Y. Wang, and K.-P. Xie, "Probing the Electroweak Phase Transition with Exotic Higgs Decays," in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study. 3, 2022. arXiv:2203.08206 [hep-ph].
- [145] Z. Wang, X. Zhu, E. E. Khoda, S.-C. Hsu, N. Konstantinidis, K. Li, S. Li, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, Y. Wu, and Y. E. Zhang, "Study of Electroweak Phase Transition in Exotic Higgs Decays at the CEPC," in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study. 3, 2022. arXiv:2203.10184 [hep-ex].
- [146] S. Jung, Z. Liu, L.-T. Wang, and K.-P. Xie, "Probing Higgs exotic decay at the LHC with machine learning," arXiv:2109.03294 [hep-ph].
- [147] N. Arkani-Hamed, T. Cohen, R. T. D'Agnolo, A. Hook, H. D. Kim, and D. Pinner,
  "Solving the Hierarchy Problem at Reheating with a Large Number of Degrees of Freedom," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 117 no. 25, (2016) 251801, arXiv:1607.06821 [hep-ph].
- [148] N. Arkani-Hamed, R. Tito D'agnolo, and H. D. Kim, "The Weak Scale as a Trigger," arXiv:2012.04652 [hep-ph].

- [149] P. Meade and H. Ramani, "Unrestored Electroweak Symmetry," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 122 no. 4, (2019) 041802, arXiv:1807.07578 [hep-ph].
- [150] I. Baldes and G. Servant, "High scale electroweak phase transition: baryogenesis and symmetry non-restoration," JHEP 10 (2018) 053, arXiv:1807.08770 [hep-ph].
- [151] A. Glioti, R. Rattazzi, and L. Vecchi, "Electroweak Baryogenesis above the Electroweak Scale," JHEP 04 (2019) 027, arXiv:1811.11740 [hep-ph].
- [152] O. Matsedonskyi and G. Servant, "High-Temperature Electroweak Symmetry Non-Restoration from New Fermions and Implications for Baryogenesis," *JHEP* 09 (2020) 012, arXiv:2002.05174 [hep-ph].
- [153] **ATLAS** Collaboration, G. Aad *et al.*, "Search for new phenomena in final states with large jet multiplicities and missing transverse momentum using  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV proton-proton collisions recorded by ATLAS in Run 2 of the LHC," *JHEP* **10** (2020) 062, arXiv:2008.06032 [hep-ex].
- [154] **ATLAS** Collaboration, G. Aad *et al.*, "Search for a scalar partner of the top quark in the all-hadronic  $t\bar{t}$  plus missing transverse momentum final state at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector," *Eur. Phys. J. C* **80** no. 8, (2020) 737, arXiv:2004.14060 [hep-ex].
- [155] **ATLAS** Collaboration, G. Aad *et al.*, "Search for chargino-neutralino production with mass splittings near the electroweak scale in three-lepton final states in  $\sqrt{s}=13$  TeV *pp* collisions with the ATLAS detector," *Phys. Rev. D* **101** no. 7, (2020) 072001, arXiv:1912.08479 [hep-ex].
- [156] ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., "Searches for electroweak production of supersymmetric particles with compressed mass spectra in √s = 13 TeV pp collisions with the ATLAS detector," Phys. Rev. D 101 no. 5, (2020) 052005, arXiv:1911.12606
  [hep-ex].
- [157] T. Leggett, T. Li, J. A. Maxin, D. V. Nanopoulos, and J. W. Walker, "No Naturalness or Fine-tuning Problems from No-Scale Supergravity," arXiv:1403.3099 [hep-ph].
- T. Leggett, T. Li, J. A. Maxin, D. V. Nanopoulos, and J. W. Walker, "Confronting Electroweak Fine-tuning with No-Scale Supergravity," *Phys. Lett. B* 740 (2015) 66-72, arXiv:1408.4459 [hep-ph].
- [159] G. Du, T. Li, D. V. Nanopoulos, and S. Raza, "Super-Natural MSSM," *Phys. Rev. D* 92 no. 2, (2015) 025038, arXiv:1502.06893 [hep-ph].

- T. Li, S. Raza, and X.-C. Wang, "Supernatural supersymmetry and its classic example: M-theory inspired NMSSM," *Phys. Rev. D* 93 no. 11, (2016) 115014, arXiv:1510.06851
   [hep-ph].
- [161] J.-R. Yuan, H.-J. Cheng, and X.-A. Zhuang, "Prospects for chargino pair production at the CEPC," *Chinese Physics C* 46 no. 1, (2022) 013104.
- [162] H. Pagels and J. R. Primack, "Supersymmetry, Cosmology and New TeV Physics," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 48 (1982) 223.
- [163] J. Chen, C. Han, J. M. Yang, and M. Zhang, "Probing a bino NLSP at lepton colliders," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 no. 1, (2021) 015009, arXiv:2101.12131 [hep-ph].
- [164] J.-R. Yuan, H.-J. Cheng, and X.-A. Zhuang, "Prospects for slepton pair production in the future e<sup>-</sup>e<sup>+</sup> Higgs factories," arXiv:2203.10580 [hep-ex].
- [165] W. Ahmed, I. Khan, T. Li, S. Raza, and W. Zhang, "Probing Relatively Heavier Right-Handed Selectron at the CEPC, FCC<sub>ee</sub> and ILC," arXiv:2202.11011 [hep-ex].
- [166] P. Athron, C. Balazs, A. Fowlie, H. Lv, W. Su, L. W. Wu, and Y. Yang, Jin Minand Zhang,
   "Global fits of SUSY at future Higgs factories," arXiv:2203.04828 [hep-ex].
- [167] Y. Bai and J. Berger, "Lepton Portal Dark Matter," JHEP 08 (2014) 153, arXiv:1402.6696 [hep-ph].
- [168] J. Liu, X.-P. Wang, and K.-P. Xie, "Searching for lepton portal dark matter with colliders and gravitational waves," JHEP 06 (2021) 149, arXiv:2104.06421 [hep-ph].
- [169] Planck Collaboration, N. Aghanim et al., "Planck 2018 results. I. Overview and the cosmological legacy of Planck," Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A1, arXiv:1807.06205 [astro-ph.CO].
- [170] Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., "Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters," Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A13, arXiv:1502.01589 [astro-ph.CO].
- [171] D. E. Kaplan, M. A. Luty, and K. M. Zurek, "Asymmetric Dark Matter," *Phys. Rev. D* 79 (2009) 115016, arXiv:0901.4117 [hep-ph].
- [172] K. Petraki and R. R. Volkas, "Review of asymmetric dark matter," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28 (2013) 1330028, arXiv:1305.4939 [hep-ph].
- [173] K. M. Zurek, "Asymmetric Dark Matter: Theories, Signatures, and Constraints," *Phys. Rept.* 537 (2014) 91–121, arXiv:1308.0338 [hep-ph].
- [174] Y. Bai and P. Schwaller, "Scale of dark QCD," Phys. Rev. D 89 no. 6, (2014) 063522,

arXiv:1306.4676 [hep-ph].

- [175] M. Zhang, "Leptophilic composite asymmetric dark matter and its detection," *Phys. Rev.* D 104 no. 5, (2021) 055008, arXiv:2104.06988 [hep-ph].
- [176] **ATLAS** Collaboration, "Search for long-lived neutral particles decaying into displaced lepton jets in proton–proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector,".
- [177] CEPC Study Group Collaboration, "CEPC Conceptual Design Report: Volume 1 -Accelerator," arXiv:1809.00285 [physics.acc-ph].
- [178] J. Liu, L.-T. Wang, X.-P. Wang, and W. Xue, "Exposing the dark sector with future Z factories," *Phys. Rev.* D97 no. 9, (2018) 095044, arXiv:1712.07237 [hep-ph].
- [179] Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., "Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters," Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A13, arXiv:1502.01589 [astro-ph.CO].
- [180] J. Liu, X.-P. Wang, and F. Yu, "A Tale of Two Portals: Testing Light, Hidden New Physics at Future e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> Colliders," JHEP 06 (2017) 077, arXiv:1704.00730 [hep-ph].
- [181] S. Alekhin, W. Altmannshofer, T. Asaka, B. Batell, F. Bezrukov, K. Bondarenko,
  A. Boyarsky, K.-Y. Choi, C. Corral, N. Craig, and et al., "A facility to search for hidden particles at the cern sps: the ship physics case," *Reports on Progress in Physics* 79 no. 12, (2016) 124201.
- [182] L. Lee, C. Ohm, A. Soffer, and T.-T. Yu, "Collider Searches for Long-Lived Particles Beyond the Standard Model," arXiv:1810.12602 [hep-ph].
- [183] J. Alimena et al., "Searching for Long-Lived Particles beyond the Standard Model at the Large Hadron Collider," J. Phys. G 47 no. 9, (2019) 090501, arXiv:1903.04497 [hep-ex].
- [184] L. Lee, C. Ohm, A. Soffer, and T.-T. Yu, "Collider searches for long-lived particles beyond the Standard Model," *Progress in Particle and Nuclear Physics* **106** (2019) 210–255.
- [185] J. Alimena, J. Beacham, M. Borsato, Y. Cheng, X. C. Vidal, G. Cottin, D. Curtin,
  A. De Roeck, N. Desai, J. A. Evans, and et al., "Searching for long-lived particles beyond the standard model at the large hadron collider," *Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics* 47 no. 9, (2020) 090501.
- [186] D. Acosta et al., "Review of opportunities for new long-lived particle triggers in Run 3 of the Large Hadron Collider," arXiv:2110.14675 [hep-ex].
- [187] Z. S. Wang and K. Wang, "Long-lived light neutralinos at future Z-factories," arXiv:1904.10661 [hep-ph].

- [188] J. C. Helo, M. Hirsch, and Z. S. Wang, "Heavy neutral fermions at the high-luminosity LHC," JHEP 07 (2018) 056, arXiv:1803.02212 [hep-ph].
- [189] D. Dercks, H. K. Dreiner, M. Hirsch, and Z. S. Wang, "Long-Lived Fermions at AL3X," *Phys. Rev.* D99 no. 5, (2019) 055020, arXiv:1811.01995 [hep-ph].
- [190] Y. Kao and T. Takeuchi, "Single-Coupling Bounds on R-parity violating Supersymmetry, an update," arXiv:0910.4980 [hep-ph].
- [191] J. P. Chou, D. Curtin, and H. J. Lubatti, "New Detectors to Explore the Lifetime Frontier," *Phys. Lett.* B767 (2017) 29–36, arXiv:1606.06298 [hep-ph].
- [192] D. Curtin et al., "Long-Lived Particles at the Energy Frontier: The MATHUSLA Physics Case," Rept. Prog. Phys. 82 no. 11, (2019) 116201, arXiv:1806.07396 [hep-ph].
- [193] V. V. Gligorov, S. Knapen, M. Papucci, and D. J. Robinson, "Searching for Long-lived Particles: A Compact Detector for Exotics at LHCb," *Phys. Rev.* D97 no. 1, (2018) 015023, arXiv:1708.09395 [hep-ph].
- [194] J. L. Feng, I. Galon, F. Kling, and S. Trojanowski, "ForwArd Search ExpeRiment at the LHC," *Phys. Rev. D* 97 no. 3, (2018) 035001, arXiv:1708.09389 [hep-ph].
- [195] M. Bauer, O. Brandt, L. Lee, and C. Ohm, "ANUBIS: Proposal to search for long-lived neutral particles in CERN service shafts," arXiv:1909.13022 [physics.ins-det].
- [196] Z. S. Wang and K. Wang, "Physics with far detectors at future lepton colliders," *Phys. Rev. D* 101 no. 7, (2020) 075046, arXiv:1911.06576 [hep-ph].
- [197] Similar idea was also proposed later in Ref. [235].
- [198] M. Tian, K. Wang, and Z. S. Wang, "Search for long-lived axions with far detectors at future lepton colliders," arXiv:2201.08960 [hep-ph].
- [199] MATHUSLA Collaboration, C. Alpigiani et al., "A Letter of Intent for MATHUSLA: A Dedicated Displaced Vertex Detector above ATLAS or CMS.," arXiv:1811.00927 [physics.ins-det].
- [200] V. V. Gligorov, S. Knapen, B. Nachman, M. Papucci, and D. J. Robinson, "Leveraging the ALICE/L3 cavern for long-lived particle searches," *Phys. Rev.* D99 no. 1, (2019) 015023, arXiv:1810.03636 [hep-ph].
- [201] P. Minkowski, " $\mu \rightarrow e\gamma$  at a Rate of One Out of 10<sup>9</sup> Muon Decays?," *Phys. Lett.* **67B** (1977) 421–428.
- [202] T. Yanagida, "Horizontal gauge symmetry and masses of neutrinos, Proceedings: Workshop

on the Unified Theories and the Baryon Number in the Universe," Conf. Proc. C7902131 (1979) 95–99.

- [203] R. N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanovic, "Neutrino Mass and Spontaneous Parity Nonconservation," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 44 (1980) 912. [,231(1979)].
- [204] S. L. Glashow, "The Future of Elementary Particle Physics," NATO Sci. Ser. B 61 (1980)
   687.
- [205] M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond, and R. Slansky, "Complex Spinors and Unified Theories," Conf. Proc. C790927 (1979) 315-321, arXiv:1306.4669 [hep-th].
- [206] A. Atre, T. Han, S. Pascoli, and B. Zhang, "The Search for Heavy Majorana Neutrinos," JHEP 05 (2009) 030, arXiv:0901.3589 [hep-ph].
- [207] CMS Collaboration, A. M. Sirunyan *et al.*, "Search for heavy neutral leptons in events with three charged leptons in proton-proton collisions at √s = 13 TeV," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*120 no. 22, (2018) 221801, arXiv:1802.02965 [hep-ex].
- [208] CMS Collaboration, A. M. Sirunyan *et al.*, "Search for heavy Majorana neutrinos in same-sign dilepton channels in proton-proton collisions at √s = 13 TeV," *JHEP* 01 (2019) 122, arXiv:1806.10905 [hep-ex].
- [209] SHiP Collaboration, C. Ahdida *et al.*, "Sensitivity of the SHiP experiment to Heavy Neutral Leptons," *JHEP* 04 (2019) 077, arXiv:1811.00930 [hep-ph].
- [210] ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad *et al.*, "Search for heavy neutral leptons in decays of W bosons produced in 13 TeV *pp* collisions using prompt and displaced signatures with the ATLAS detector," *JHEP* 10 (2019) 265, arXiv:1905.09787 [hep-ex].
- [211] **LHCb** Collaboration, R. Aaij *et al.*, "Search for heavy neutral leptons in  $W^+ \to \mu^+ \mu^{\pm}$  jet decays," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81 no. 3, (2021) 248, arXiv:2011.05263 [hep-ex].
- [212] **CMS** Collaboration, "Search for long-lived heavy neutral leptons with displaced vertices in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the CMS detector,".
- [213] R. N. Mohapatra, "Mechanism for Understanding Small Neutrino Mass in Superstring Theories," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 56 (1986) 561–563.
- [214] F. F. Deppisch, P. S. Bhupal Dev, and A. Pilaftsis, "Neutrinos and Collider Physics," New J. Phys. 17 no. 7, (2015) 075019, arXiv:1502.06541 [hep-ph].
- [215] Y. Cai, T. Han, T. Li, and R. Ruiz, "Lepton Number Violation: Seesaw Models and Their Collider Tests," *Front.in Phys.* 6 (2018) 40, arXiv:1711.02180 [hep-ph].

- [216] Y. Gao and K. Wang, "Heavy Neutrino Searches via Same-sign Lepton Pairs at the Higgs Factory," arXiv:2102.12826 [hep-ph].
- [217] W. Liao and X.-H. Wu, "Signature of heavy sterile neutrinos at CEPC," *Phys. Rev.* D97 no. 5, (2018) 055005, arXiv:1710.09266 [hep-ph].
- [218] J.-N. Ding, Q. Qin, and F.-S. Yu, "Heavy neutrino searches at future Z-factories," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 79 no. 9, (2019) 766, arXiv:1903.02570 [hep-ph].
- [219] A. Blondel, A. de Gouvêa, and B. Kayser, "Z-boson decays into Majorana or Dirac heavy neutrinos," *Phys. Rev. D* 104 no. 5, (2021) 055027, arXiv:2105.06576 [hep-ph].
- [220] I. M. Shoemaker, K. Petraki, and A. Kusenko, "Collider signatures of sterile neutrinos in models with a gauge-singlet Higgs," JHEP 09 (2010) 060, arXiv:1006.5458 [hep-ph].
- [221] Y. Gao, M. Jin, and K. Wang, "Probing the Decoupled Seesaw Scalar in Rare Higgs Decay," JHEP 02 (2020) 101, arXiv:1904.12325 [hep-ph].
- [222] R. D. Peccei and H. R. Quinn, "CP conservation in the presence of pseudoparticles," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 38 (Jun, 1977) 1440-1443.
   https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.38.1440.
- [223] S. Weinberg, "A new light boson?" Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (Jan, 1978) 223-226. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.40.223.
- [224] F. Wilczek, "Problem of strong p and t invariance in the presence of instantons," Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (Jan, 1978) 279-282. https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.40.279.
- [225] P. Svrcek and E. Witten, "Axions In String Theory," JHEP 06 (2006) 051, arXiv:hep-th/0605206.
- [226] A. Arvanitaki, S. Dimopoulos, S. Dubovsky, N. Kaloper, and J. March-Russell, "String axiverse," *Phys. Rev. D* 81 (Jun, 2010) 123530.
   https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.81.123530.
- [227] M. Cicoli, M. Goodsell, and A. Ringwald, "The type IIB string axiverse and its low-energy phenomenology," JHEP 10 (2012) 146, arXiv:1206.0819 [hep-th].
- [228] P. Arias, D. Cadamuro, M. Goodsell, J. Jaeckel, J. Redondo, and A. Ringwald, "WISPy Cold Dark Matter," JCAP 06 (2012) 013, arXiv:1201.5902 [hep-ph].
- [229] H.-Y. Zhang, C.-X. Yue, Y.-C. Guo, and S. Yang, "Searching for axion-like particles at future electron-positron colliders," *PRD* 104 (2021) 096008, arXiv:2103.05218 [hep-ph].
- [230] W. Jianchun, "Plan of the fourth conceptual detector."

https://indico.ihep.ac.cn/event/13888/. Talk presented at The Joint Workshop of the CEPC Physics, Software and New Detector Concept.

- [231] T. Han and Z. Liu, "Potential precision of a direct measurement of the Higgs boson total width at a muon collider," *Phys. Rev.* D87 no. 3, (2013) 033007, arXiv:1210.7803
  [hep-ph].
- [232] M. Greco, T. Han, and Z. Liu, "ISR effects for resonant Higgs production at future lepton colliders," *Phys. Lett.* B763 (2016) 409-415, arXiv:1607.03210 [hep-ph].
- [233] D. d'Enterria, A. Poldaru, and G. Wojcik, "Measuring the electron Yukawa coupling via resonant s-channel Higgs production at FCC-ee," *Eur. Phys. J. Plus* 137 no. 2, (2022) 201, arXiv:2107.02686 [hep-ex].
- [234] Z. Chacko, P. J. Fox, R. Harnik, and Z. Liu, "Neutrino Masses from Low Scale Partial Compositeness," arXiv:2012.01443 [hep-ph].
- [235] M. Chrzaszcz, M. Drewes, and J. Hajer, "HECATE: A long-lived particle detector concept for the FCC-ee or CEPC," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 81 no. 6, (2021) 546, arXiv:2011.01005 [hep-ph].